

# NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT

06-29-2017 1074-01 17-MED-03-0441 K35769

**Between The** 

# LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL BOARD OF EDUCATION

# And The

# LIBERTY CENTER CLASSROOM TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

Effective September 1, 2017 to August 31, 2020

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION	
	A. Association Recognition	1
	B. Bargaining Unit	1
	C. Association/Administrator Representation at Conferences	
	D. Privileges of Substitute Teachers, and/or Part-time Certified/Licensed	
	Personnel Employed for the Full School Year	1
ARTICLE II	NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURES	
ANNOLLI	A. Scope of Negotiations	2
	B. Philosophy of Negotiations	
	C. While Negotiations are in Process	
	D. Negotiating Period	
	E. Directing Requests	
	F. Composition of Negotiating Teams	
	G. Negotiating Session	
	H. Official Minutes	3
	I. Caucus	3
	J. Requests for Assistance	3
	K. District Insurance Committee	3
	L. News Release	
	M. Agreement	
	N. Final Agreement	
	O. Disagreement	
		32
ARTICLE III	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
	A. Definitions	5
	B. General Provisions	
	C. Informal Procedure	
		0
	D. Formal	~
	1. Level	
	2. Level II	
	3. Level III	
	4. Level IV	7
ARTICLE IV	ASSOCIATION AND TEACHER RIGHTS	6.852
	A. Use of School Buildings	
	B. Use of School Equipment	
	C. Dissemination of Information	
	D. Labor Management Committee	8
	E. Payroll Deduction	8
	F. Board Meetings	9
	G. Association Leave	9
	H. Rights under the Law	
	I. No Reprisal Clause	
	NA E REEDED PRESERVE REESEED FREENERS	100
ARTICLE V	EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES	
······································	A. Notice of Vacancy	10
	B. Voluntary Transfer	
	C. Involuntary Transfer/Reassignment	
	D. Observation and Evaluation	
	1. Academic Freedom	12

2. Head Coaching Evaluation Process	
3. School Counselor Evaluation	
E. Professional Personnel Records	
F. Sequence of Limited Teaching Contracts	
G. Reduction in Force/Layoff and Recall	
1. Reasons for Reductions	
2. Suspension - Renewal Suspension	
<ol><li>Selection of Suspension and/or Renewed then Suspen</li></ol>	ded 16
<ol><li>Notice of Intent to Reduce Staff/Conference/Hearing</li></ol>	
5. Employee Rights While on Reduction	
6. Notification of Recall	
7. Status Upon Recall	
H. Fair Dismissal	
1. Progressive Discipline	
2. Suspension Pending Termination	
3. Termination of Contract	
4. Non-renewal of Limited Contract	
5. Expiration of Supplemental Contracts	
I. Employment Practices - Nondiscrimination	

# ARTICLE VI LEAVES OF ABSENCE (PAID AND UNPAID)

A.	Sick Leave	21
	Sick Leave Bank	
C.	Personal/Emergency Leave	24
	Professional Leave	
	Legal Leave	
F.	Assault Leave	27
	Leave of Absence without Pay	

ART	CLE	VII

A.	Regular Salary Schedule	2
B. 1	Salary Schedule Placement	2
C. 1	Continuing Contract	. 2
D.	Certified/Licensed Staff Salary Schedules and Initial Placement on	
	Salary Schedule of Retirees.	.3
E. 1	Professional Experience and Educational Advancement	3
	Direct Deposit	
G.	Extended Time Compensation	3
H. 1	Outside of School Day Compensation	3
I. S	tudent Teacher Supervision Honorarium	3
	Annual Salary Notices	
	Other Payroll Deductions	
	lospital Surgical/Major Medical	
M.	Dental Insurance	3
	/ision Insurance	
	Section 125 Cafeteria Plan	
	life Insurance Benefits	
	Continuation of Insurance Coverage	
	Severance Pay	
	1. Eligibility	
	2. Benefit Calculation	
	3. Early Announcement Retirement Incentive	
	4. Service Retirement Recognition Stipend	

	S. Professional Development Program T. STRS Pickup	
	SALARY SCHEDULE	
	2017-2018 CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE	37
	2018-2019 CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE	
	2019-2020 CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE	
	SUPPLEMENTAL SALARIES	
ARTICLE VIII	TEACHING CONDITIONS	40
	A. School Calendar	
	B. School Year	
	C. School Day	
	D. Teacher Work Days	
	E. Notice for School Closing/Delays	
	F. Collaboration/Professional Development Training	
	G. Grade Preparation	
	H. Grading Periods	
	I. Class Size	
	J. Emergency Period Substitutes	45
	K. Dress and Grooming Guidelines	45
	L. Duty Free Lunch Period	
	M. Association Representation	46
	N. Building Access	
	O. Local Professional Development Committee	
	P. Extra Educational Supplies Allotment	
	Q. Tuition Waiver	
ARTICLE IX	OTHER PROVISIONS	
	A. Management Rights	48
	B. No Strike	
	C. In Term Bargaining	
	D. Amendment	
	E. Severability	
	F. Duration of Agreement	
ARTICLE X	FAIR SHARE FEE	50
	A. Payroll Deduction of Fair Share Fee	
	B. Notification of the Amount of Fair Share Fee	
	C. Schedule of Fair Share Fee Deductions	
	D. Transmittal of Deductions	
	E. Procedure for Rebate	
	F. Entitlement to Rebate	
	NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT	
	Signature Page	51
	Informal Grievance Discussion Report	
	Grievance Report Forms Level I, Level II, Level III, Level IV	53 - 56
	Appendixes:	
	Appendix A - Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool	57
	Appendix B - OTES Assessment of Teacher Performance	
	Appendix C - OTES Classroom Walkthrough	

Appendix E - OTES Improvement Plan Appendix F - Instructional Coach/Teacher Change Form	
Appendix G - OTES Informal Observation Form	
Appendix H - Ohio School Counselor Evaluation System	
Appendix I - Athletic Coach Evaluation Form	
Appendix J - Parent Contact Chart	
Appendix K - MOU - School Day	

# ARTICLE I

### ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION

# A. ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION

The Liberty Center Local Board of Education (hereinafter referred to as the Board) recognizes the Liberty Center Classroom Teachers Association OEA/NEA (hereinafter referred to as the Association) as the sole and exclusive representative for all professional staff members employed by the Board in the employee bargaining unit as set forth in section B herein.

# **B. BARGAINING UNIT**

The term "professional staff member" of the employee bargaining unit covered by this negotiated agreement is defined as all certificated/licensed personnel employed by the Board whether on leave, on per diem basis, or otherwise employed, or to be employed, tutors and/or part-time certified/licensed personnel regularly employed for the full school year. Substitutes employed for 60 or more days in the same assignment shall be considered to be members of the bargaining unit. However personnel on an administrative or supervisory contract and teachers employed by the county but assigned to Liberty Center shall not be considered to be members of the bargaining unit. In addition, except where salaries, fringe benefits, and working conditions may be determined by the conditions and provisions set forth in this Agreement for positions that may otherwise be held by the members of the bargaining unit, casual day to day or periodically employed, or certified/licensed personnel employed for supplemental/extracurricular positions only shall not be considered to be a part of the bargaining unit. The provisions above shall not be construed to prevent the Association from bargaining for salaries, fringe benefits, and other working conditions of non-bargaining unit employees whose job functions have a direct or indirect impact on bargaining unit working conditions or whose jobs may be filled by members of the bargaining unit.

# C. ASSOCIATION/ADMINISTRATOR REPRESENTATION AT CONFERENCES

In the interest of mutual courtesy, either party shall notify the other party if it intends to have representation at an administrator/employee conference. Said notice shall be provided by the end of the day prior to this conference, except in emergency situations. If said notice is given, the receiving party shall also be entitled to representation without giving notice to the other party.

# D. PRIVILEGES OF SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS, AND/OR PART-TIME CERTIFIED/LICENSED PERSONNEL EMPLOYED FOR THE FULL SCHOOL YEAR

Part-time certified/licensed personnel regularly employed for the full school year on a one-half (1/2) day or more basis will be entitled to leaves of absences, any of the fringe benefits, or any other rights and privileges accorded fulltime staff prorated to the amount of their service. A part-time employee shall be defined as any bargaining unit member employed for a one-half (1/2) day or more on a regular basis.

# ARTICLE II

# NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURES

# A. SCOPE OF NEGOTIATIONS

The Board of Education and the Association shall enter into negotiations with the purpose of achieving a signed agreement covering matters pertaining to wages, hours, terms, and work conditions of employment and the continuation, modification, or deletion of an existing provision of this collective bargaining Agreement.

# B. PHILOSOPHY OF NEGOTIATIONS

LCCTA and the Board believe that teamwork and positive collaboration are the best hope for building constructive relationships through the honesty and openness through IBB or traditional bargaining. It is through collaborative team structures that we will maintain and improve all aspects of our school district, provide quality programs and services for our children, and improve student achievement.

In a climate of trust, openness, and honesty, the LCCTA and the Board have committed to Interest Based Bargaining (IBB) training for the negotiating teams. At the conclusion of the training, a mutual decision will be made whether to proceed with IBB or traditional bargaining. All IBB ground rules will be reached through mutual agreement. At any point during negotiations if traditional bargaining is selected, the traditional bargaining procedures are detailed in the remainder of this article.

### C. WHILE NEGOTIATIONS ARE IN PROCESS

- 1. Both parties agree to conduct negotiations in good faith. "Good Faith" requires that the LCCTA and the Board be willing to react to each other's proposals and/or offer counter proposals. If a proposal is unacceptable to one of the parties, that party is obligated to give its reasons and/or offer counter proposals. "Good Faith" means the obligation of the representative of the Board and the LCCTA to meet at reasonable times to deal with each other openly and fairly in an effort to reach an agreement on those matters being negotiated. The obligation to meet for the purpose of professional negotiations does not compel either party to agree on each and every proposal or make a concession on each and every proposal. The parties recognize that the Association and Board retain the right to final ratification.
- Recording: No electronic recording devices shall be permitted in any negotiating session including caucuses.
- Information: The Board and the LCCTA agree to supply available information that is specifically requested and routinely prepared. Except for costs of documents routinely prepared, actual costs of reproduction may be assessed to the requesting party.

# D. NEGOTIATING PERIOD

The length of the negotiating period shall be at least forty-five (45) work days commencing with the initial agenda setting session, unless a shorter period is mutually agreed to. "Days" as used in this procedure shall be any day Monday through Friday exclusive of negotiated or school observed holidays. During the summer recess "days" shall be taken to mean any day Monday through Friday exclusive of federally observed holidays, leave days, or vacation days of any party employed on a 12-month contract.

Negotiations shall be initiated during the month of March prior to the expiration date of this Agreement.

The negotiating period shall not extend beyond June 15 of any calendar year, unless the extension is mutually agreed to by the Association and the Board.

#### E. DIRECTING REQUESTS

Requests from the Association shall be made directly to the Superintendent or his/her designee. Requests from the Board of Education or its designee shall be made to the President of the Association. A mutually convenient time for a meeting date shall be set within twenty (20) school days of the date of the request.

# F. COMPOSITION OF NEGOTIATING TEAMS

The Association and the Board shall select without restriction those individuals who shall comprise their respective negotiating teams. Each team shall have no more than five (5) members. While no final agreement shall be executed without ratification by the LCCTA and the Board, the parties will mutually pledge that their representatives will be clothed with all necessary power and authority to make proposals, consider proposals, and to make concessions in the course of negotiations. All negotiations shall be conducted exclusively between the teams, and in executive session. In addition to said teams, each party shall be authorized to admit up to two (2) observers to each meeting. Such observers shall be without the right to speak or communicate to either party during the negotiating sessions, and are subject to the same conditions as team members.

# G. NEGOTIATING SESSION

The exchange of a complete list of proposals will occur at the initial meeting. The exchange shall also include a sufficient number of completed proposals so as to permit the parties to begin bargaining. Following the initial meeting, only counter proposals to the original proposals submitted at the initial meeting shall be offered by either party. A mutually agreeable time, date, and place of each subsequent session will be established prior to the conclusion of each session, except where impasse has been declared or a final agreement has been reached.

#### H. OFFICIAL MINUTES

Minutes may be kept by both the Board and the Association. Said minutes may be exchanged by either party if requested.

# I. CAUCUS

Upon request of either party, the negotiating session shall be recessed to permit the requesting party to caucus for a period of time not to exceed thirty (30) minutes unless extended by mutual agreement.

#### J. REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE

The participants may call upon competent professional and lay representatives to consider the matter under discussion, and to make suggestions and have the right to utilize the services of consultants.

# K. DISTRICT INSURANCE COMMITTEE

The District Insurance Committee will be designed to represent all district employee groups. The LCCTA will have proportionate representation on the committee. They will annually review the plan and report to the employee groups and the Board of Education. This committee is to be used as an expert resource and may make recommendations to the bargaining teams.

# L. NEWS RELEASE

While negotiations are in progress, any release prepared for news media must be approved by both parties.

# M. AGREEMENT

As tentative agreement is reached on each item during the negotiating period, the agreement shall be reduced to writing, and may be initialed by each team.

If agreement is reached on matters being negotiated, the tentative agreements reached between the negotiating teams shall be reduced to writing and submitted to the Association for its consideration. If ratified, such written agreement shall be submitted to the Board of Education for its consideration. Upon receipt of the ratified agreement, the Board of Education shall take action as soon as possible but not later than the next regular or special meeting of the Board of Education.

# N. FINAL AGREEMENT

Upon ratification by both the Association and the Board of Education, five (5) copies of the total Agreement shall be signed by the President, Superintendent and Treasurer of the Board of Education and the President, Treasurer, and Chief Negotiator of the Association. Each party shall retain two (2) signed copies of the final Agreement. One (1) copy will be submitted to the State Employment Relations Board, herein referred to as SERB, pursuant to its rules and regulations.

As soon as practicable, but not later than forty-five (45) calendar days after ratification, the agreement shall be made available in PDF format and emailed to all LCCTA members, administrators, and board.

# O. DISAGREEMENT

The impasse resolution procedures herein shall supersede the dispute settlement and procedures set forth under ORC 4117.14.

If the parties have negotiated for a period of at least sixty (60) calendar days and no agreement has been reached, either party may declare an impasse and submit the unresolved issues to the impasse procedure contained herein. Upon declaration of impasse either party may contact the Federal Mediation & Conciliation Service and request the services of a mediator.

Both parties hereby agree to give, upon request, such information as the mediator deems necessary.

Except by mutual consent, the selection and mediation process shall not extend for more than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of declaration of impasse. The parties shall be permitted to postpone or extend the mediation process by not more than fifteen (15) days and shall not extend beyond the expiration of this Agreement except by written agreement of the parties prior to such expiration. All such extensions shall be for a specified period of time.

The Association may exercise its right under 4117.14(d) (2), O.R.C. It is understood that this represents a MAD resolution procedure and supersedes the statutory impasse provisions.

# ARTICLE III

# **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

# A. DEFINITIONS

A "Grievance" is defined as a claim by a staff member, group of staff members, or Association (hereinafter called the grievant) that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement.

An aggrieved party may be an individual or the Liberty Center Classroom Teachers Association in a class action grievance or a grievance affecting Association rights.

"Days" as used in this procedure shall be calendar days, exclusive of negotiated or school observed holidays. In the event the day on which any form in the grievance procedure must be filed falls on a weekend that is not a negotiated or school observed holiday, that form shall be filed on the next teacher work day. Grievances will be processed during the scheduled district summer break when all parties are available to meet.

"Representation or representative" as provided for in and throughout this procedure shall be: any member of the Association or its affiliates chosen by the aggrieved, legal counsel of the aggrieved, or any other person of the aggrieved's choosing, except that the aggrieved may not be represented by an officer or employee of any teachers' organization other than the recognized Association.

#### **B. GENERAL PROVISIONS**

The time limits provided for in this Article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties.

The grievant may have a local Association member present at the informal level meeting.

The grievant may be represented at all formal stages of the grievance procedure by any person of his/her own choosing so long as such representation is consistent with the representation provisions above. Any member of the bargaining unit will have the right to present grievances and have them resolved, without the intervention of the Association, as long as the resolution is not inconsistent with the terms of this agreement and as long as the Association has the opportunity to be present at any meeting or hearing where a resolution is reached.

The president of the Association or his/her designee and the grievant shall receive prior notice of each meeting held on Levels I through IV to resolve a formally filed grievance.

Nothing contained herein shall limit or otherwise exclude any grievant from seeking redress from any government agency, regulatory body, or any court of law with jurisdiction over this school district.

No reprisal of any kind shall be taken by or against any participant in the grievance procedure by reason of participation or use of this grievance procedure.

A copy of all grievances and administrative responses shall not be filed in the personnel file of a teacher, but may be maintained in a separate grievance file. If a grievance appears to arise from the actions of an authority higher than the immediate supervisor and/or affects a group of members of the Association, it may, if mutually agreed upon by the Superintendent and the grievant (or the grievant's representative), be submitted at Level II described herein.

Formal hearings of meetings held under the grievance procedure shall be conducted at a time and place which will afford a fair and reasonable opportunity for all persons, including witnesses, entitled to be present to attend. Such meetings or hearings shall have provision for: (a) initial presentation of the grievant's case, (b) explanation of the administration's position, (c) final summaries, if applicable, and with either party having the right, at its option, to waive any or all of the foregoing (a), (b), or (c). Formal hearings held under the Level IV procedure shall be structured so that due process is accorded to both sides.

A grievance may be withdrawn at any level without prejudice or record.

Suspension of processing a grievance at any level by the aggrieved party shall indicate the grievance has been resolved at that level.

The Board, the administration, and the Association will cooperate with the investigation of any grievance and further, the parties will furnish each other such information as is requested and available for the processing of any grievance. Should the administration determine that the investigation and/or processing of any grievance requires that a staff member and/or an Association representative be released from his regular assignment, he/she shall be released without loss of pay or benefits.

#### C. INFORMAL PROCEDURE

In the event that the grievant believes there is a basis for a grievance, he/she shall first discuss the alleged grievance with the immediate administrator who has the authority to bring about a resolution of the alleged problem. The aggrieved party and/or administrator may have local Association representation at this meeting. An informal level grievance slip will be signed and dated by both parties at the conclusion of the meeting. (Informal grievance form attached.)

# D. FORMAL

If a grievance is not resolved informally, said grievance may be processed in keeping with the following:

#### LEVEL 1

The grievance is to be reduced to writing, including the alleged violation and relief sought. The specific section of this Agreement alleged to have been violated must be set forth in the grievance. Failure to do so shall render the grievance null and void. The grievance is to be submitted to the principal within thirty-five (35) days of the act or condition giving rise to the grievance. Within ten (10) days of the submission of the written grievance, the principal will meet with the grievant to discuss the stated grievance. The aggrieved party and/or the principal may have representation at this meeting. Within five (5) days of said meeting, the principal will provide a written response to the aggrieved. The Association and the Superintendent (or the Superintendent's designee) shall both be provided a copy of the disposition of the grievance by the principal. If the aggrieved is not satisfied with the written response, the aggrieved may submit the grievance to the Superintendent or his/her designee at Level II within ten (10) days of the receipt of the principal's response.

The failure of the principal to respond to the grievance within fifteen (15) days of its receipt will result in the grievance automatically being advanced to the next level as if timely appealed.

#### LEVEL II

Within ten (10) days of the receipt of the written grievance by the Superintendent or his/her designee, the Superintendent (or his/her designee) will meet with the grievant to discuss the stated grievance. The aggrieved party and/or the Superintendent may have representation at this meeting. Within five (5) days of said meeting, the Superintendent or his/her designee will provide a written response to the aggrieved.

The Association and the principal shall be provided copies of the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent or his/her designee. If the aggrieved is not satisfied with the written response, the aggrieved may submit the grievance to Level III by filing a request with the Superintendent within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Level II response.

The failure of the Superintendent to respond to the grievance within the fifteen (15) days of its advancement from Level I will result in a finding for the grievant. Failure of the grieved to proceed within the ten (10) days shall mean the grievance has been resolved by the disposition in Level I.

### LEVEL III

If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent, the grievance may be referred to mediation (FMCS) by mutual agreement.

If unresolved at mediation the grievance may be referred to binding arbitration.

# LEVEL IV

If the grievance is not resolved through mediation the Association may submit the grievance to binding arbitration by filing a request for arbitration with the Treasurer of the Board and the Superintendent. The demand for arbitration and the request for an arbitrator shall be submitted to the American Arbitration Association in accordance with the American Arbitration Association:

- 1) the American Arbitration Association rules for voluntary labor arbitration or
- the American Arbitration Association rules for expedited labor arbitration shall likewise govern the arbitration proceeding. Both parties may be represented at the arbitration hearing.

The jurisdiction and authority of the arbitrator and his/her opinion and award shall be limited to the interpretation of the written provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, add to, or subtract from or in any way modify the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Claims not raised at previous levels of the grievance procedure may not be raised at arbitration unless claims are disclosed seven (7) days prior to the hearing. A court of competent jurisdiction shall be the appropriate forum for the resolution of disputes over whether or not any written provisions of said Agreement and Board policy, rules, regulations, practices and/or procedures affecting members of the bargaining unit are contrary to law.

In any arbitration proceeding where a question concerning the arbitrator's jurisdiction over the grievance is raised, the arbitrator shall make a separate decision on the question of this jurisdiction. In his/her decision, the arbitrator shall first rule upon the jurisdictional issues and, if he/she determines that he/she has no jurisdiction, he/she shall make no decision or recommendation concerning the merits of the grievance. Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the arbitrator from taking all evidence of the jurisdictional issued and the merits of the grievance in a single hearing.

The arbitrator will render his/her decision in writing within thirty (30) days, or such additional time as the parties may in writing agree, after any grievance has been submitted to him/her. His/her decision, when so rendered as required by law, will be binding upon both parties.

The cost of arbitration and the services of the American Arbitration Association shall be borne by the losing party of the arbitration hearing. The arbitrator's decision must clearly indicate the losing party in the decision.

(Level I, II, III, IV forms attached.)

# ARTICLE IV

# ASSOCIATION AND TEACHER RIGHTS

# A. USE OF SCHOOL BUILDINGS

The Association will have the right to use school buildings for union activities without cost during nonworking hours for staff members, providing that custodians are on duty, and pursuant to the Board's policy concerning the use of school buildings.

# B. USE OF SCHOOL EQUIPMENT

The Association will have permission to use individual school equipment, as needed for union activities, pursuant to the Board policy, when such equipment is not otherwise in use. Supplies in connection with such equipment used will be furnished by or paid for by the Association.

# C. DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION

The Association or its representatives shall have the right to:

- Place notices, circulars, and other material in all bargaining unit members' mailboxes. A copy of all such materials will be given to the Superintendent or his/her designee and the building principal at the time of distribution. Use teacher mailboxes, email, and inter-school mail services will be used to distribute LCCTA information.
- Use in each building a reasonable amount of space on existing bulletin boards located in each of the staff lounge areas.
- Make brief Association announcements at the end of faculty meetings with prior approval of the building administrator in charge and have meeting announcements presented over the public address system.
- The LCCTA President and/or designee shall have the opportunity to visit all school areas and send email for LCCTA business during the school day, if mutually agreed upon by the LCCTA President and Superintendent.

# D. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Labor Management Committee will meet at the request of the Superintendent or LCCTA President to discuss issues that may arise. The meeting dates and agendas will be set by the Superintendent and LCCTA President. The Labor Management Committee shall consist of the LCCTA Executive Committee and administrators unless changed by mutual agreement. The Association will choose its members in accordance with Association guidelines.

# E. PAYROLL DEDUCTION

The following payroll deductions will be provided at no cost to the professional staff member:

 United Teaching Profession dues -- Staff members may, at any time until September 30, sign and deliver to the Board an authorization form requesting membership dues and assessments of the recognized Association and its affiliates. Such authorization shall continue in effect until such time that said staff member gives written notice to the Treasurer of the Board to discontinue such deductions or employment with the Board terminates. Such deductions will be made in 16 equal amounts for all those individuals so authorizing beginning with the first pay check in October and ending in May. All money so deducted shall be remitted monthly to the Treasurer of the Association.

The Treasurer of the Association shall provide the Treasurer of the Board of Education with the amounts of dues and assessments for each ensuing school year not later than September the 15th.

Should any staff member submit written notice to the Treasurer of the Board to discontinue such deductions, the Board Treasurer shall, within two (2) school days of the receipt of such written notice, provide the Association Treasurer the names of said staff members making such request.

# F. BOARD MEETINGS

- 1. Meeting Notice and Agenda—The President of the Association will be given notice and supplied with all board agendas and teacher related addendum, (excluding employment attachments), of all regular and special Board meetings at the same time they are made available to the Board.
- 2. Association Participation—A representative of the Association shall be permitted to address or otherwise engage in discussion with the Board during the Board meeting in the same fashion as accorded to members of the general public. The Association may also request to be placed on the agenda by submitting a written request to the Superintendent five (5) days in advance of the meeting. Such request must indicate the item(s) to be discussed.

# G. ASSOCIATION LEAVE

The Board shall authorize up to a maximum of three (3) total days of absence without loss of pay per school year to professional staff members elected to represent the Association or chosen to serve on programs or in an official representative capacity at Association meetings, conferences, conventions or functions. One (1) day will be used as a "lobby day" with approval of the Superintendent. Such leave may not be used for meetings, conferences, or conventions of any other teacher organizations. Except in cases of emergency, an advance request for use of this leave must be submitted by the President of the Association to the Superintendent or his/her designee at least two (2) weeks in advance.

#### H. RIGHTS UNDER THE LAW

Nothing contained herein will be construed to restrict or deny any rights professional staff members may have under the law.

#### I. NO REPRISAL CLAUSE

There will be no reprisals or penalties of any kind taken against or levied upon any professional staff member by reason of his/her membership in the Association or participation in any legal activities.

# ARTICLE V

# EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

# A. NOTICE OF VACANCY

The intent of this section is to provide an orderly process through which a certificated employee of the Liberty Center Local Schools will be able to learn of vacancies in the system for which he/she may wish to apply. Nothing agreed to herein shall diminish in any way the Board's authority to employ staff members as directed by the legislature in ORC 3319.07, or 3319.08 except as otherwise agreed to in this section of the negotiated Agreement. Nothing agreed to herein shall be construed to limit the Superintendent's authority to assign staff pursuant to ORC 3319.01.

- 1. All vacancies will be posted via school email to all staff members, including newly created positions during the summer when school is not in session. The Board shall not take formal action in filling said vacancies for at ten (10) days after the date of the email. It shall be the obligation of the professional staff individual to make known to the person listed on the posting in writing their desire for a vacancy upon being made aware of such vacancy within ten (10) days of the original posting date. Such notice will include the following:
  - a. Position(s) available
  - b. Deadline for application
  - c. Effective starting date
  - d. Certification and job description
  - e. Any additional pertinent information
- 2. Current bargaining unit members who have expressed interest according to Article V A 1 shall be considered first for vacancies.
- 3. A vacancy shall be defined as any position in the bargaining unit resulting from:
  - a. An employee's leaving employment as a result of a termination, resignation, or death.
  - b. An employee's non-renewal for just cause.
  - c. An employee's transfer to another bargaining unit position.
  - d. An employee's assuming a non-bargaining unit position.
  - e. An employee's leave of absence.
  - f. The creation of a new bargaining unit position.
- In filling such vacancies, if all other factors are equal, as determined by the Board and/or Superintendent, length of service in the Liberty Center Local School District will be the deciding factor.
- 5. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after the Board's selection of an applicant, any Liberty Center staff applicant who was not selected for the position may request a conference with the Superintendent in order to discuss the reason(s) as to why he/she was not selected for said position. Such individual may be accompanied by a person of the applicant's selection. Upon request of the applicant, the reason(s) as set forth in the conference will be reduced to writing and given to said applicant within ten (10) school days following the conference.

# B. VOLUNTARY TRANSFER

Staff members may request and the Board may grant a change of assignment in accordance with the following procedures:

- 1. Change of assignment request shall refer to (1) change in building, (2) change of year/level, (3) change of subject.
- 2. Transfer requests may be initiated by staff members using the following guidelines:
  - a. A transfer request shall be put in writing and submitted to the office of the Superintendent by March 30<sup>th</sup> prior to the school year or within seven (7) days after vacancy posting.
  - b. No transfer shall be made during implementation of a RIF that will cause the lay-off of a more senior employee.

# C. INVOLUNTARY TRANSFER/REASSIGNMENT

- Reasonable effort shall be made to avoid involuntary transfers by fully utilizing the voluntary transfer procedure. When an involuntary transfer/reassignment needs to be made, seniority in the district shall be one factor considered. If a staff member is to be involuntarily transferred or reassigned, that staff member will be given a two (2) week notification. If the Administrator directs an involuntary transfer in the building, subject or grade level, notification with written reasons shall be given to the involved staff member.
- 2. Staff members being involuntarily transferred will be assigned only to a position for which they are certified. In discussing an involuntary transfer, there will be a meeting (within three (3) days of a written request) of the staff member(s) involved and the Superintendent or his/her designee to explain the reasons for the transfer. The involved staff member may request representation of his/her choosing for the meeting.
- 3. When personnel must be transferred as a result of changes in student enrollment at that particular grade level or class, a list of necessary changes shall be posted and the association president provided a copy of such transfer(s). The notification shall be made by May 15 of each school year.
- 4. By May 15, all staff members shall be given their tentative teaching assignments for the next school year. If a change in assignment is necessary after May 15, the Administration shall immediately notify the affected staff member(s). Final teaching assignments shall be mailed to all staff members no later than two (2) weeks prior to the start of the school year, except in the case of extenuating circumstances.

# D. OBSERVATION AND EVALUATION

It is the responsibility of the Liberty Center Board of Education and the Liberty Center Classroom Teachers' Association to create an atmosphere favorable for all teachers and administrators to perform their duties in such a manner as to better meet the educational needs of the students. The Board and the Association believe this goal can be fostered by an effective evaluation program.

This evaluation program is designed to provide staff members an early indication of deficiencies; specific, reasonable, mutually developed, written recommendations for improvement; and ample opportunity for remediation. In those situations in which a staff member's performance is completely satisfactory, the procedure provides the assurance of a job well done which the staff member deserves to receive from his/her administrator. Evaluation shall be a continuous and cooperative enterprise between teachers and administrators.

Teacher performance in the workplace shall be evaluated for the following purposes:

- a. The improvement of the quality of classroom instruction.
- b. The provision for a means of professional growth.
- c. The provision for a sequential procedure for evaluation.

d. The assessment of the performance of teachers for the purposes of recommending contract renewals, certificate/license renewals, the granting of continuing contracts, the issuance of contracts of lesser duration, non-renewal, or dismissal.

All bargaining unit members meeting the statutory definition of teacher pursuant of the O.R.C. shall be evaluated in accordance with this Article, and the Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool entered into by the parties.

Bargaining unit members who do not meet the statutory definition of teacher shall be evaluated according to this article and relevant components found within the Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool. Those members shall be observed and evaluated using the same timelines and frequency for statutorily defined teachers as set forth in any mutually agreed upon memorandum of understanding entered into by the parties.

A Teacher Evaluation Committee shall be created consisting of representatives from Administration and the Association. At a minimum, the committee shall convene at the end of each year to review the evaluation procedure and make recommendation to the Board of Education and LCCTA members. These recommendations are subject to ratification by both parties prior to implementation.

Liberty Center's Evaluation Committee will have a committee structure of four (4) LCCTA members, one (1) must be President or his/her designee who can make decisions for the bargaining unit, and four (4) Administrators, one (1) must be the Superintendent or his/her designee who can make decisions for the Administrative Team.

- a. The committee will function on a consensus basis and will take the committee recommendations to their constituents to ratify.
- b. Duties of the Liberty Center Evaluation Committee will be to develop the process, forms, and definitions to be part of the Liberty Center Evaluation Process.
- c. LCCTA Members will be paid in accordance with Article VII Section G.
- d. The committee will create an Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool.

It is agreed that any complaints regarding violations of either this Article, or procedures in the Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool shall be subject solely to the grievance procedure contained in this agreement and shall supersede and replace conflicting provisions of any evaluation of any requirements of Ohio Revised Code Section 3319.11 with which this provision is in conflict. This section is not intended to supersede the teacher's right to written notice of nonrenewal, his/her right to a statement of circumstances, his/her right to a hearing before the Board of Education, or the right to appeal the matter to court.

1. Academic Freedom

Academic freedom shall be guaranteed to all staff members. Freedom of individual expression which exhibits the basic objectives of a democratic society will be encouraged. Each staff member must be mindful that his/her presentation(s) be open-minded, fair, responsible, and respectful of differing opinions of others.

The staff member, as a recognized professional, shall have the right and responsibility to choose those instructional methods he or she deem to be appropriate and effective with a given group of students provided that such instructional methods are within the constraints of operations of the building. Choice of methods shall not be considered an appropriate area for criticism in an evaluation unless the evaluator can reasonably document the ineffectiveness, detrimental effect(s), disruption to other classes or building operations, or that the method(s) are outside the constraints of the curriculum.

Furthermore, unless it can be documented that a staff member's choice of instructional methods can be shown to be ineffective and generally detrimental to the classroom instruction, or detrimental to other classes and/or students, or disruptive of the educational process in the building, or inimical to the social, moral, and ethical development of students, criticisms of such teaching methods shall not be a factor in any recommendation for non-renewals or lesser contracts. Such documentation shall not be based on standardized tests or on other accountability measures which do not take into account the teaching conditions, the background and ability level of the students.

No staff member shall be criticized or otherwise threatened in the evaluation procedure on the basis of that staff member's expression of dissent in regard to the evaluator's academic, administrative or professional decisions, provided the staff member's dissent has been expressed in an ethical and professional manner. Likewise, an evaluator shall have the right to express dissent regarding the staff member's professional and academic decisions provided the dissent is expressed in an ethical and professional manner.

#### 2. Head Coaching Evaluation Process

The evaluator will meet with the head coach within ten (10) workdays following the completion of the awards program and shall note in writing any deficiencies.

Should a head coach receive a deficiency(s) on the evaluation instrument (located in Appendix I) including a casual observation, he/she will be given specific, reasonable, written recommendations for improving the noted deficiencies in a conference with the evaluator.

The head coach receiving written recommendations and the evaluator shall meet for one (1) additional conference within twenty (20) days to discuss the head coach progress in improving the noted deficiencies. At the request of either party, progress conferences may be held within the first ten (10) days the following school year.

The head coach will have the right to representation of his/her choosing for any conference with the evaluator.

3. It is agreed that the LCCTA and Board of Education will abide by the O.R.C. 3319.113 for the completion of School Counselor Evaluations and will use the prescribed rubric as provided by the Ohio Department of Education as indicated in Appendix H. Changes and amendments as stipulated by legislation or the ODE to this School Counselor Evaluation process can be accomplished through dialogue with the Teachers Evaluation Committee.

# E. PROFESSIONAL PERSONNEL RECORDS

A personnel file for each bargaining unit member shall be maintained in the Superintendent's office. This file shall be considered confidential and the only official file.

Individual staff members will have access to their personnel files upon request. Requests of staff members to have access to their personnel files shall be handled by the administrator responsible for the specific file to which access is requested.

Those authorized for access to personnel files of staff members shall be limited to the Superintendent, Treasurer, and supervising building principal(s) and counsel of the Board of Education.

All materials placed in the personnel file of the professional staff member shall include the following:

- 1. The date the item was placed in the file.
- 2. Initials or signature of the staff member in whose file the entry is being made and the initials or signature of the administrator placing information in the file.

These personnel records shall include:

- 1. Application for employment, including those nonconfidential<sup>1</sup> references.
- 2. Copy of the latest contract, properly signed and/or salary notice<sup>2</sup>.
- 3. Health history card, if any.
- 4. Ohio teaching certificate.
- Transcript of college credits showing the official record of the degree granted, original or certified copy.
- 6. Record of military service, if any.
- 7. Other documentation which has been properly placed in the file.

A staff member shall be notified by the administration of the placement in the file of any material which may be considered critical or complimentary of the conduct, performance, character or personality of the staff member. If a parental and/or student complaint is to become a matter of record for placement in the member's personnel file, the member shall be given a copy of such material at the time it is placed in his/her file. In addition, such staff member will have the opportunity to appeal the placement of any such material placed in the personnel file. The staff member shall acknowledge that he/she has read the material by affixing his/her signature to the copy to be filed. If the staff member shall not indicate agreement with the content of the material, but indicates only that the material has been inspected by the staff member. The staff member shall also have the opportunity to reply to such critical material in a written statement to be entered in the personnel file. Such reply must be presented to the building principal, who shall affix his/her signature thereto, acknowledging that the building principal has read the reply.

Anonymous letters or materials shall not be placed in a professional staff member's file, nor shall they be made a matter of record with regard to the affected staff member.

A staff member shall be entitled to a copy, at no expense to the staff member, of any material in his/her personnel file.

A staff member may periodically review his/her personnel file and shall be entitled to a copy of any material in that file. A third party selected by the staff member at the option of the staff member may be present during such review. A representative of the administration, at the option of the administration, may also be present during such review. When a building principal leaves the employment of the school district all personnel files that he or she maintained shall be purged.

At no time nor under any circumstances will the confidential files of any staff member be opened to the public.

Any materials entered into a staff member's file may be grieved as to the accuracy, relevance, timeliness, or completeness of such material. If it is found to lack in any of the aforementioned, it shall be removed from the staff member's file. However, pursuant to the provision above, no grievance may be filed without first having exhausted the local file examination procedures as provided by ORC 1347.

Information in the personnel file may be removed upon mutual agreement of the staff member and the administrator making the entry, or the Superintendent. The staff member may submit letters of merit which may be placed in his/her personnel file.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Confidential information for which the employee has specifically signed a waiver may not be revealed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Such documents for all staff may be stored collectively in the same file.

The provisions of this section of the contract shall not be construed to limit the rights accorded to a staff member pursuant to ORC 1347.

### F. SEQUENCE OF LIMITED TEACHING CONTRACTS

1. Upon initial employment of a staff member in the Liberty Center Local School District, the limited contract of employment shall be for a term of one (1) school year.

Succeeding limited contracts shall be as follows, assuming the staff member is renewed at the conclusion of each contract:

a.	Second contract	- 1 year
b.	Third contract	- 2 years
C.	Fourth contract and thereafter	- 3 years

Those staff members currently employed on limited contracts of more than three (3) years duration shall continue to be offered contracts of equal duration except as provided in division (2) below or in the event they become eligible for a continuing contract. Upon receipt of requirements for a continuing contract, the staff member may, with recommendation of the Superintendent, receive a continuing contract when other contracts are considered.

All eligible staff members shall be offered a multi-year contract as listed above unless offered a contract of lesser duration under Subsection 2 or non-renewed pursuant to the fair dismissal provisions of this Agreement.

- 2. Upon the recommendation of the Superintendent, the Board may grant a contract of lesser duration than prescribed by the normal sequence above on the following conditions:
  - a. An improvement plan in accordance with this agreement has been given.
  - b. The Superintendent shall notify the staff member in writing of his/her intended recommendation fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the Board's action on said contract. Such notice shall contain written reasons directed at professional improvement of the staff member and/or the basis for the Superintendent's recommendation. Such written reasons and/or basis shall be the sole and complete basis for the recommendation. All such reasons and/or basis for the recommendation shall be supported by data or by written comments.
  - c. If requested, any staff member so notified shall be entitled to a conference with the Superintendent and Building Principal and afforded the opportunity to discuss and to respond to the reasons and/or basis listed in said notification. Any such staff member shall have the opportunity to be accompanied and represented by a representative of his/her choice at said conference. The conference, if requested, shall be held within ten (10) school days of the request for same.
  - d. The Board shall notify such staff member on or before the 30th of April of its action upon the Superintendent's recommendation.
- Staff members new to the system with previous teaching experience outside the district may be offered the initial contract of up to two (2) years duration upon recommendation of the Superintendent. Subsequent contract offers to such staff members shall follow the contract sequence noted above.
- 4. The contract of a long term substitute will come to an end upon the return of the bargaining unit member whose position was vacated, or the end of the school year, whichever occurs first, and the long-term substitute shall have no right to employment in any succeeding year unless offered a contract by the Board of Education. Specific Board of Education action to non-renew such employment contracts and written notice of non-renewal shall not be required.

# G. REDUCTION IN FORCE/LAYOFF AND RECALL

# 1. Reasons for Reductions

To the extent that reductions are not achieved through attrition or the non-renewal of limited contracts for reasons other than reduction in force, and when by reason of decreased enrollment of pupils, return to duty of regular staff members after leaves of absence, by reason of suspension of schools territorial changes affecting the district or lack of essential financial resources, or the Board of Education decides that it will be necessary to reduce the number of staff members, it may make a reasonable reduction in accordance with the provisions below.

Suspension of teaching contracts pursuant to the provisions below for purposes of staff reduction due to lack of essential financial resources shall occur only in the period between the end of one school year and the start of the succeeding school year.

- 2. Suspension Renewal Suspension
  - a. All evaluations are comparable for the purposes of this Article only.
  - b. If staff reduction is deemed necessary for any of the above reasons and all other provisions of this section have been fulfilled, then the reduction shall be made as follows:
    - Renewing expiring limited contract, then suspending such contracts; and/or
    - Suspending existing limited contracts, and/or
    - Suspending continuing contract.
- 3. Those contracts to be suspended and/or renewed-then-suspended will be selected as follows:
  - a. Seniority

All members of the bargaining unit will be placed on a seniority list for each teaching field for which they are properly certificated. Staff members serving under continuing contracts will be placed at the top of the list, in descending order of seniority. Staff members serving under limited contracts will be placed on the list under continuing contract staff members, also in descending order of seniority.

Seniority will be defined as the length of continuous service as certificated/licensed employee under regular contract in this district beginning with the first date the staff member reported for duties.

Continuous service employment shall include all time on sick leave, all time on Board approved leave of absence, all time on military leave of absence, all time on disability retirement to a maximum of five (5) years, and all time during suspension if the staff member is reinstated. Except for absence due to sick leave, or other paid leaves of absence, Board approved unpaid leaves of absence will not interrupt seniority, but the time spent on such a leave shall not count toward seniority.

If two (2) or more staff members have the same length of continuous service, seniority will be determined by:

- the date of the board meeting at which the staff member was hired, and then by;
- the date the staff member signed his/her initial employment contract in the district, and then;
- any remaining ties will be broken by lot.

Seniority shall be lost when a staff member resigns or retires. Disputes over a staff member(s) seniority shall be subject to the provisions of the grievance procedure. An updated seniority list will be available upon request. In addition to seniority and contract status, the list will give each staff member(s) areas of certification/licensure and present teaching assignment(s) and supplemental assignment(s), if any.

b. Least Senior Reduced

Reductions in a teaching field will be made by selecting the lowest person on the seniority list for that area of certification/licensure who is currently assigned to a position in that teaching field. A staff member so affected may elect to displace a staff member who holds a lower position on a seniority list for another area of certification/licensure provided such staff member has:

- (1) Taught for at least 120 days of full-time employment in the area of certification/licensure in which the displacement will occur during the four (4) years preceding the reduction, or
- (2) Taken academic coursework-either a 2-semester hour college course or its equivalent, or earned its equivalent of six (6) units of continuing education (CEU's)-- in the area of certification/licensure which the displacement will occur during the last four (4) years preceding the reduction. The staff member shall receive prior approval by the superintendent that the coursework/continuing education he/she wishes to take meets the requirements of this provision. Any such election to displace another staff member must be made within ten (10) days of the time the staff member is notified he/she will be affected.
- 4. Notice of Intent to Reduce Staff/Conference/Hearing

When staff reduction is necessary, the Superintendent shall give notice of the intent to recommend the suspension and/or renewal-suspension of contracts to all staff members so affected and shall also give the complete list of affected individuals to the Association at the earliest practicable time, but not later than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to Board action to reduce staff, whichever comes first. The Association and each staff member whose contract is to be suspended (or renewed-suspended) under provisions of this section shall receive a copy of the entire seniority list at the time of notification of suspension or renewal suspension.

Each staff member so notified shall, upon request, be entitled to a conference with the Superintendent or his/her designated representative as to the reasons for such reduction. Such conference will be scheduled within five (5) school days of receipt of notice of the Superintendent's intent to recommend such reduction to the Board.

5. Employee Rights While on Reduction

The above section shall not diminish or void any right or privileges provided the Board or staff members in any state or federal law except as expressly and specifically set forth herein.

Staff members on the recall list will have the following rights:

a. Staff member(s) on reduction are to be recalled in the order of seniority and tenure status when vacancies become available for which they are or have become qualified under the provisions specified herein.

Staff members on the recall list will be recalled in order of seniority for vacancies in areas for which they are certificated/licensed provided they have either:

1. Taught in that area of certification/licensure for at least 120 days of full-time employment during the four (4) years preceding the reduction, or

- 2. Taken academic coursework-either a 2-semester hour college course or its equivalent, or earned its equivalent of six (6) units of continuing education- in the area of certification/licensure while on the recall list. The staff member on recall shall receive prior approval by the Superintendent that the coursework/continuing education he/she wishes to take meets the requirements of this provision.
- b. The recall list for those staff members on limited contracts shall be maintained for a period of three (3) years.
- c. While a reduction continues, no substitute staff member(s) or any other person new to the system will be hired except where:
  - 1. There are no staff member(s) on layoff qualified to fill a vacant position or who become qualified by retraining, as specified above, or
  - 2. All qualified staff member(s) on layoff decline the offer to fill the vacancy.
- d. The Board shall not contract out, sublet or otherwise permit any work previously performed by staff member(s) in the bargaining unit to be performed by individuals or entities who are not members of the bargaining unit except where mutually agreed upon by the parties after due notice and negotiation with the association.
- e. Staff members whose contracts are suspended (or renewed suspended) under the terms of this section are to be considered as being reduced in force (on layoff) and awaiting recall and not as being terminated with the system.

So long as any employee remains on layoff status, no current non-bargaining unit employee shall be assigned to fill that specific bargaining unit position that has been reduced in force.

Qualifications (certification/licensure) for a bargaining unit position that has been reduced in force shall not be changed so as to prevent the recall of a laid-off employee.

- f. Reduced staff members may choose to continue participation in the group health and dental insurance plans available to regular employees pursuant to Federal Cobra regulations. (Public law 99-272, title X). Continuation of life insurance coverage is available through conversion privileges with the insurance carrier.
- g. Acceptance of other full-time teaching employment with another school district shall extinguish all right to recall.
- h. Each affected staff member shall have the right to unemployment compensation benefits during the layoff, within the regulations of the bureau of employment services.
- 6. Notification of Recall

It shall be the responsibility of each staff member to notify the Board of any change of address or change in certification/licensure.

The Board shall give written notice of an offer of re-employment by sending a registered or certified letter to the Association and to the most senior of those qualified staff members at their last known address. Any senior eligible staff member that fails to accept the offer of re-employment in writing within twelve (12) calendar days, excluding Sundays, and holidays, from the date said offer is mailed to the last known address of the affected staff member shall be considered to have rejected said offer, and shall be removed from the recall list.

7. Status Upon Recall

A staff member on the recall list will, upon acceptance of the notification to resume active employment status, return to active employment status with the same seniority as he/she enjoyed at the time of layoff. Such staff member shall be credited with additional sick leave, if any, and be placed on the salary schedule in accordance with their respective training and experience at the time of recall.

# H. FAIR DISMISSAL

# 1. Progressive Discipline

No bargaining unit member shall be disciplined, suspended, or discharged without just cause. The administration shall comply with the following progressive discipline procedure.

- a. 1st offense Verbal warning with written documentation (of date and topic only)
- b. 2<sup>nd</sup> offense Written warning
- c. 3rd offense 1 to 3 day suspension with or without pay
- d. 4th offense Possible termination of the Bargaining Unit Member

Certain severe circumstances may warrant deviation from this procedure. The sequence shall be followed in order for the progressive discipline in all other cases. The discipline shall only be accumulative for same type, same offense.

2. Suspension Pending Termination

A staff member suspended without pay, pursuant to ORC Section 3319.16, shall be paid his full salary for the period of suspension if, after the hearing, the decision of the referee is against termination and the Board accepts such decision.

3. Termination of Contract

The termination of a contract, during the term of such contract, shall be for those grounds as set forth in ORC Section 3319.16. The procedures for termination of a contract shall be as described by ORC. Section 3319.16.

- 4. Non-renewal of Limited Contract
  - a. The implementation of an improvement plan in accordance with this agreement shall not act as a bar to the non-renewal of a staff member at the conclusion of his/her initial one year contract.
  - b. Should the limited contract of a staff member who will have not yet completed three (3) full, consecutive and current years of teaching service in the district by the end of the current school year be recommended by the Superintendent for non-renewal, written notice of same shall be given to said staff member at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the Board's action on said contract.

Any such staff member having received notice above may, within five (5) school days of the receipt of such notice of the intent to non-renew, request a meeting with the Superintendent to discuss the consideration of non-renewal. The requested meeting will be held within five (5) school days from date of the submission of the request. The staff member will be provided with the full opportunity to present his/her position with regard to the consideration of the non-renewal.

c. Should the limited contract of a staff member who will have completed three (3) or more full consecutive and current years of teaching service in the district by the end of the current school year be recommended by the Superintendent for non-renewal, a written notice containing reason(s) for said recommendation shall be given to said staff member at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the Board's action on said contract.

Any such staff member having received notice above may, within five (5) school days of the receipt of the notice of the intent to non-renew, request a meeting with the Superintendent to discuss the reasons and consideration of non-renewal. The requested meeting will be held within five (5) school days from the date of the submission of the request. The staff member will be provided with the full opportunity to present evidence, and to otherwise respond, explain and/or rebut the basis for the consideration for non-renewal. Within five (5) days of the meeting with the Superintendent, the staff member may file with the Treasurer of the Board of Education a request for a hearing before the Board. Such hearing shall be held on or before the meeting date in which action on said contract is due to be taken. The staff member may be represented by any person of his/her choice. The staff member and/or his representative will be provided with the full opportunity to present evidence and to otherwise respond, explain and/or rebut the basis for the consideration and/or his representative will be provided with the full opportunity to present evidence and to otherwise respond, explain and/or rebut the basis for the consideration for non-renewal.

5. All supplemental contracts shall automatically expire on June 30th each year.

# I EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES - Nondiscrimination

The Board's policy of nondiscrimination extends to students, staff, job applicants, the general public and individuals with whom it does business and applies to race, color, national origin, citizenship status, religion, sex, economic status, age or disability.

The Board does not permit discriminatory practices and views harassment as a form of discrimination. Harassment is defined as intimidation by threats of or actual physical violence; the creation, by whatever means, of a climate of hostility or intimidation; or the use of language, conduct or symbols in such a manner as to be commonly understood to convey hatred, contempt or prejudice or to have the effect of insulting or stigmatizing an individual.

Employees or students who engage in discrimination of another employee or student shall be subject to disciplinary action.

Permission, consent or assumption of risk by an individual subjected to discrimination does not lessen the prohibition contained in this policy.

No one shall retaliate against an employee or student because he/she files a grievance; assists or participates in an investigation, proceeding or hearing regarding the charge of discrimination of an individual; or because he/she has opposed language or conduct that violates this policy.

# ARTICLE VI

# LEAVES OF ABSENCE (PAID AND UNPAID)

# A. SICK LEAVE

- Each full-time professional staff member shall be entitled to fifteen (15) days sick leave with pay for each school year under contract and shall accrue sick leave at the rate of one and one-fourth (1 1/4) days for each calendar month under contract.
- Sick leave will be cumulative to an amount of 220 days and may be transferred from one school district to another in the State of Ohio. A certified record of unused sick leave must be presented to the school before credit can be given.
- 3. Each newly hired certified/licensed staff member who has no accumulated sick leave, or any certified/licensed staff member who has exhausted his/her sick leave, will be advanced an accumulation of sick leave of at least five (5) days. Each professional staff member under regular, full-time contract but absent because of illness, will continue to accumulate sick leave at the rate of one and one-fourth (1 1/4) days per month.
- 4. Any professional staff member having terminated employment with the Board will have their accumulated sick leave reinstated upon re-employment, provided such sick leave has not been used in the employ of another Board of Education or other agency of the State of Ohio covered by such provision.
- 5. A professional staff member re-employed by the Board who, since leaving the employ of the Board, has been employed by other Boards of Education or by State, county, or municipal governments in Ohio, will receive full credit up to two hundred twenty (220) days, for sick leave accumulated both in the prior employ of the Board and while in the employ of other agencies of the State of Ohio as shown in the records of the last employing agency.
- 6. Any professional staff member being employed by the Board, who, preceding this employment, has been in the employ of another Board of Education, State, county, or municipal government in Ohio will receive full credit up to two hundred twenty (220) days, for the sick leave accumulated in this previous employment as shown in the records of the last employing organization.
- 7. Professional staff members absent when school is cancelled due to inclement weather or otherwise not in session due to a holiday will not be charged with sick leave.
- 8. Professional staff members shall be responsible for notifying the appropriate authority of an impending absence as soon as possible completing appropriate documentation so that appropriate arrangements can be made to secure a substitute. Lesson plans from the teaching staff must be available to the substitute. In the event the process changes, staff will be notified by administration.
- Pursuant to ORC 3319.141, sick leave shall be granted for absence due to personal illness, pregnancy, injury, exposure to contagious disease which could be communicated to others, and for absence due to illness, injury or death in the employee's immediate family.
  - a. Injury and/or illness in the immediate family:

For purposes of injury or illness, one's immediate family will be interpreted as spouse, child, father, mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, step parents, step children, grandchildren, and significant other.

# b. Death in the family:

In the event of death in the immediate family, immediate family shall include spouse, father, mother, child, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandchildren, grandparents, aunts and uncles, step children, step parents, and significant other.

- 10. Falsification of a sick leave statement is grounds for suspension or termination, pursuant to ORC 3319.16.
- 11. Those employees who render part-time, seasonal, intermittent, per diem, or hourly service shall be entitled to sick leave pursuant to ORC 3319.141.
- 12. Any staff member missing fifteen (15) days in a school year is required to furnish a doctor's note for any absence thereafter.
- 13. An absence of less than one (1) hour of contracted time shall not be counted against attendance unless a period substitute requests emergency substitute pay.

# B. SICK LEAVE BANK

- B1. Only Bargaining Unit Members who conform to the following criteria and voluntarily contribute to the sick leave bank will be eligible to derive benefits from the sick leave bank.
  - a. Bargaining Unit Members desiring membership in the sick leave bank shall enroll prior to September 30, beginning with the first student day. A Bargaining Unit Member hired after the enrollment period shall have thirty (30) working days from their employment date to enroll under this provision.
  - b. If the Bargaining Unit Member drops from the sick leave bank during the open enrollment period, all sick leave donated by the individual shall remain in the bank.
  - c. Bargaining Unit Members with less than three (3) years' experience in the District, who has no accumulated sick leave, or less than fifteen (15) days, but desire to join the sick leave bank, shall not be required to donate days to the bank until their accumulation exceeds fifteen (15) days. Once accumulation reaches fifteen (15) days, the Bargaining Unit Member shall contribute the necessary days to the bank in order to clear his/her deficit of owed days.

The term "owed days" is defined to mean the three (3) initial enrollment days to join the bank plus any additional open enrollment required days that have not yet been donated.

- d. Members of the bank shall contribute three (3) days to initially enroll. If the number of days in the sick leave bank total fifty (50) or less days, the committee, at its discretion, may establish other open enrollment periods during the school year. Each subsequent time additional days are requested by the Sick Bank Committee they must be contributed/owed to stay in.
- e. If Bargaining Unit Members who were eligible at the inception of the sick leave bank chooses to join after the inception, they must make up all days, which they would have been accessed if they would have joined when they were first eligible.
- f. The sick leave bank shall not accumulate more than two hundred (200) days.
- g. The Association shall hold harmless and indemnify the Board, for any claims made against the Board, which are based upon aspects of the Sick Leave Bank's operation, which are within the exclusive control of the Association.

- h. The sick leave bank may not award more than forty-five (45) days to each employee per contract year (Sept. 1 Aug. 30).
- i. If an employee with a sick leave balance leaves Liberty Center Schools with "owed days" to the sick leave bank those days are returned to the sick leave bank prior to transferring their balance to the next employer.
- j. For the purposes of sick leave calculation, days granted by the sick leave bank will not be considered as accumulated days.
- B2. Administration of the Sick Leave Bank and Procedures:
  - a. The sick leave bank is the sole and exclusive right of the committee to administer.
  - b. The Association shall establish criteria for a committee and the appointment of committee members.
  - c. The President of the Association or designee shall preside as chairperson over the committee meetings and is responsible for calling meetings when necessary. The chairperson shall handle all communication to the Board's Treasurer in regard to sick leave day advancement to any applicant.
  - d. Members may make application to the Sick Leave Bank Committee by sending a letter to the chairperson requesting the number of days needed and a signed doctor's statement or a letter detailing the reason(s) why their absence from work will run beyond their total number of accumulated sick leave days. Members shall exhaust all paid leave plus three (3) deduct days to be eligible for sick leave bank days. This request may be submitted by

the Bargaining Unit Member or by a person acting on behalf of the Bargaining Unit Member in the event the member is unable to file the request.

- e. The decision of the committee is final and binding on the applicant and thus is not subject to the grievance procedure.
- f. The request for sick leave day(s) from the bank shall be considered for catastrophic reasons related to conditions due to the following:
  - 1. Personal illness.
  - 2. Attend to illness in the immediate family as defined in contract in Article VI, Section A9(a), (b).
  - 3. Death within the immediate family found in Article VI, Section A9(b).
  - 4. Persons in need of additional days due to the birth of a child or the adoption of a child and, due to catastrophic reasons requiring additional time.
- g. Requests for day(s) from the sick leave bank can be made prior to the expiration of the Bargaining Unit Member's accumulated sick leave days.
- h. Should the Bargaining Unit Members return before the assigned day(s) have been used, the remaining days shall be returned to the sick leave bank balance.

i. At the end of each year, the sick leave bank committee shall review the guidelines of the sick leave bank and its use. If the committee feels changes need to be made, the chairperson will present these concerns to the Association's Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will then discuss and vote on the proposals. Any changes will then be put into a Memorandum of Understanding and Bargaining Unit Members will be notified of any changes.

# C. PERSONAL/EMERGENCY LEAVE

- Each bargaining unit member shall be granted three (3) Unrestricted Personal/Emergency Leave days per school year with no deduction in pay for personal or emergency situations, which cannot be attended to outside school hours.
- 2. In order to make use of a leave day or of a portion of such day, the staff member will submit to his/her building principal written notice of his/her intention to be absent on a form provided by the Superintendent. On this form the staff member will indicate the date of the intended absence, whether the absence is to be for a full or a half day, and whether a substitute will be needed.
- 3. The leave form shall be submitted to the building principal at least seventy-two (72) hours or three (3) calendar days prior to the intended date of absence. Except that in case(s) of unanticipated personal emergency, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall be contacted as soon as possible and the leave form shall be completed immediately upon return to duty.
- 4. No leave day nor any portion thereof can be used on a teacher work day, a parent-teacher conference day, or within the first five (5) or the last five (5) school days of the school year. Personal/emergency leave may be granted on these days if written application is made to the Superintendent (before the leave or within twenty-four (24) hours of return to duty) explaining that the reason for the leave was emergency in nature, that the need for the leave was due to circumstances beyond the control of the staff member, and that the reason for the leave could not be conducted on another day. Such reasons may include, but not be limited to, funerals, personal or home emergencies, or ceremonies involving the staff member's immediate family. Funerals should always be given the utmost consideration.

Personal days may be wrapped around a holiday with prior notice. If the notice is three (3) weeks prior to the holiday, the administration will locate a substitute. If three (3) weeks notice is not given, the teacher will be responsible to locate a substitute.

- 5. Personal leaves will be granted on a first come basis with no more than three (3) elementary teachers and a combination of four (4) middle school and/or high school teachers on any given day. Exceptions may be granted for the same reasons and following the same guidelines as outlined in Number 4 above.
- 6. If an employee does not use any of his/her personal days or any deduct days in a school year, he/she will receive a stipend in the amount of \$200 at the end of the contract year. If an employee uses only one personal day or one deduct day, he/she will receive a stipend of \$100 at the end of the contract year.

# D. PROFESSIONAL LEAVE

Released time to attend approved professional meetings, conferences, athletic clinics, visitations, county curriculum development sessions, etc., may be granted to provide the opportunity for certified/licensed staff members to advance professionally.

Use:

- Professional staff members who attend such meetings or conferences shall be considered assigned to duty with full payment of salary and benefits. Such approved leave will not be deducted from accrued or earned sick leave or personal leave.
- Athletic clinics shall be defined as any opportunity that allows a staff member to grow in his/her responsibilities as a coach, including, but not limited to, clinics, rules interpretation meetings, state tournaments, etc.
- 3. Requests for professional leave shall be submitted in writing to Building Principal or Supervisor at least three (3) days in advance and shall specify the purpose, duration, and estimated cost of such leave. Approval to attend such a meeting shall be secured in advance from the Superintendent or his/her designee. After attendance at any professional meeting where reimbursement as provided herein will be applicable, the staff member will prepare a form requesting reimbursement. Reimbursements will be granted when the staff member provides the Superintendent and Building Principal with a written summary of the meeting. If requested by the Superintendent, the staff member will also be present at the next regular meeting of the Board of Education to present a brief summarization of the meeting.
- 4. Staff members will be limited to no more than five (5) school days of self-requested professional leave per school year.
- 5. Upon approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee, professional staff members may be granted professional leave for the following reasons:
  - a. To attend professional conferences/seminars
  - b. To participate in curriculum development meetings
  - c. To conduct professional visitations
  - d. To participate in a professional seminar
  - e. To attend athletic clinics, meetings, tournaments
  - f. To participate in other Board of Education approved activities that will promote the professional growth of the teacher, coach, advisor, and/or the school system

# Reimbursement:

The following reimbursement provisions shall be in effect for staff member requested professional leave:

As supported by receipts, approved reimbursement will be paid (exclusive of substitutes) or the necessary and reasonable expenses of:

 Transportation equivalent to the use of a privately owned automobile on a cents per mile basis to a maximum of 400 miles round trip or exceptions as approved by Superintendent. The reimbursement rate shall be the IRS designated rate per mile.

Trips reimbursed from athletic funds shall be reimbursed at 32 cents per mile to a maximum of 400 miles round trip or exceptions as approved by Superintendent.

Mileage for reimbursement shall be calculated from Liberty Center or the staff member's home (whichever is less) to the actual site of the meeting, conference, clinic, etc.

- 2. All food receipts must be itemized.
- Total district costs for any one teacher's self-requested professional leave during any one school year shall not exceed \$500.00.
- Staff members shall not be reimbursed from professional development funds for attendance at any athletic clinic. Likewise, reimbursement from athletic clinic funds shall not be deducted from the \$500.00 professional development allowance.
- 5. Staff members receiving outside grant funds to attend professional meetings shall be able to use both grant funds and professional development funds for reimbursement, provided that: 1) grant funds are used first, and 2) total reimbursement from both sources does not exceed monies spent. The staff member shall submit a copy of the grant check along with receipts for the professional meeting in order to be reimbursed from professional development funds. Outside grant funds shall not be deducted from the \$500.00 professional development allowance.
- College credit courses must meet the limitations of the Professional Development Program provision in this Agreement.

The following provisions shall be in effect for district-requested professional leave:

- Costs incurred for district-requested leave shall not count in the \$500.00 maximum professional leave benefit.
- 2. As supported by receipts, approved reimbursement will be paid for the necessary and reasonable expenses of:
  - a. Use of a privately-owned automobile calculated from Liberty Center or the staff member's home (whichever is less) on a cents per mile basis at the IRS designated rate per mile, or the least expensive common carrier whose schedule provides such transportation in a timely manner.
  - b. All food receipts must be itemized.
  - c. Necessary lodging.
- 3. Cost of substitute(s) shall be borne by the district.
- E. LEGAL LEAVE

When a professional staff member is required and/or subpoenaed by a court, the Board will grant a leave for legal purposes. Said leave shall not be deducted from any other type of leave. Pay for days of absence on a school day due to legal leave shall be based upon the difference between the professional staff member's regular compensation and the remuneration received for serving as a juror or witness (not including meal and travel allowances or living expenses).

# F. ASSAULT LEAVE

A staff member assaulted while in the course of his/her employment and physically disabled from such assault, shall remain on the payroll as a regular employee and shall receive all benefits as if on sick leave for up to ten (10) days. To be eligible for assault leave, the certified employee shall:

- a. Make a written statement concerning the assault on forms provided by the Board.
- b. Provide a certificate from a licensed physician stating the nature and duration of the disability and the necessity of absence from regular duties.

The days so used will not be deducted from sick leave. Falsification of any of the employee's statement or the physician's statement shall be grounds for suspension or termination of employment under 3319.16 Ohio Revised Code.

# G. LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

1. General Provisions

Upon request of the teacher, the Board of Education may grant a leave of absence without pay for a period of not more than two (2) consecutive school years for educational or professional or other purposes, and shall grant said leave where illness, disability, or child care is the reason for the request. Upon subsequent request, such leave may be renewed by the Board in its sole discretion.

The request shall state the reason for the required leave, the date the leave is to begin and the date the leave is to end. The staff member on leave shall complete an intent form, as requested by the Superintendent.

The granting of a leave of absence shall not be construed to extend a limited contract past its term or prevent the non-renewal of a staff member's contract.

Persons returning from leaves of absence are subject to assignment by the Superintendent to a position within their area of certification/licensure.

Early return - Any staff member on an approved leave of absence as set forth above may request an early termination of the leave by submitting such request to the Superintendent. The staff member must notify the Superintendent by March 30<sup>th</sup> in the last year of their leave of absence if they intend to come back the following year.

- 2. A staff member will be granted a leave of absence for the following reasons:
  - a. Illness and/or disability the employee shall be obligated to provide evidence of his/her illness or disability and submit same along with any request for this form of leave of absence.

Such requests shall indicate the expected period of disability which shall be supported by the evidence of the disability. If such evidence is in the form of a physician's statement, such statement will indicate the period of expected disability.

b. Child Care Leave - A staff member who wishes to remain home with a newly born infant or newly adopted child shall file a request for child care leave with the Superintendent ninety (90) days prior to initiating said leave. Exception to the ninety (90) day notice may occur for adoption purposes. The Board shall grant an unpaid child care leave for the remainder of the school year in which the leave is requested.

If the request is made and the leave begins at the beginning of the second semester or thereafter, the leave shall be for the remainder of the school year in which the leave is requested and/or for the following first semester of the next school year at the option of the staff member.

- Other leaves of absence may be granted by the Board upon written request of a teacher.
  - a. Graduate Study Such leave must be approved in advance by the Superintendent. Upon acceptance of this leave the staff member agrees, if requested by the Board, to return to the Liberty Center Local School District to teach for a period of at least one (1) school year.

Upon written request of the staff member, the Superintendent will provide a written explanation and/or basis for any such leave which is not approved. Such explanation and/or basis will not be debatable or grievable.

# **ARTICLE VII**

# PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION AND PAYROLL PRACTICES

# A. REGULAR SALARY SCHEDULE

The basic salaries of staff members covered by this contract shall be adjusted to reflect the rates set forth herein. For the 2017-2018 school year, the Board will increase the base salary by 2.75%. For the 2018-2019 school year, the Board will increase the base salary by 2.75%. For the 2019-2020 school year, the Board will increase the base salary by 2.75%.

# B. SALARY SCHEDULE PLACEMENT

The maximum years of credit for experience outside the school system shall be ten (10). Years of service for salary schedule placement purposes shall be credited according to the following:

- 1. All years of teacher service in the district regardless of training level with each year consisting of at least one hundred twenty (120) days under a teacher's contract.
- All years of teaching service in a chartered, non-public school located in Ohio as a teacher certified/licensed pursuant to Section 3319.22 of the ORC, or in another public school regardless of training level with each year consisting of at least one hundred twenty (120) days under a teacher's contract.
- 3. All years of teaching service in a chartered school or institution or a school or institution that subsequently became chartered or a chartered special education program, or a special education program that subsequently became chartered operated by the state as a teacher certified pursuant to Section 3319.22 of the ORC regardless of training level with each year consisting of at least one hundred twenty (120) days.
- 4. All years of active military service in the armed forces of the United States as defined in Section 3307.22 of the ORC to a maximum of five (5) years. For purposes of this calculation, a partial year of active military service of eight (8) continuous months or more in the armed forces shall be counted as a full year.

# C. CONTINUING CONTRACTS

Continuing contracts shall only be granted to:

- 1. A teacher holding a Professional License (5 year), Permanent, or Life Certificate who has completed either one of the following:
  - a. If the teacher did not hold a Master's Degree at the time of initially receiving a teacher's certificate under former law or an educator license, thirty (30) semester hours of coursework in the area of licensure or in an area related to the teaching field since the initial issuance of such certificate or license, as specified in rules which the State Board of Educations shall adopt.
  - b. If the teacher held a Master's Degree at the time of initially receiving a teacher's certificate under the former law or an educator license, six (6) semester hours of graduate coursework in the area of licensure or in an area related to the teaching field since the initial issuance of such certificate or license, as specified in rules which the State Board of Education shall adopt. AND

 A teacher completing three (3) years of successful teaching in Liberty Center Schools, or two (2) years of successful teaching in the Liberty Center School District, if tenure had been attained previously in another Ohio system prior to employment in the Liberty Center School District.

(Any teacher employed by the Board who will become eligible for continuing contract for the succeeding school year and/or at the expiration of the current limited contract, shall apply in writing to the superintendent for Continuing Contract by November 15<sup>th</sup> of the school year in which their current contract with the Board shall expire. If they are in the middle of a three (3) year contract, they must wait until the end of that contract to obtain continuing status.)

# D. CERTIFIED/LICENSED STAFF SALARY SCHEDULES AND INITIAL PLACEMENT ON SALARY SCHEDULE OF RETIREES

Upon hiring an individual to fill a teaching position, where that individual has previously retired from Liberty Center or any other public-school district, the Superintendent shall have the sole discretion to recommend to the Board of Education the years of service credit to be granted to that individual, providing that a minimum of five (5) years of "actual teaching" and "military experience", as defined by ORC 3317.12(A), is given to that individual. The Superintendent shall not be precluded from recommending more than ten (10) years of actual teaching experience. Placement on salary schedule will be at the appropriate educational level attained. Retirement from district shall be considered a break in employment for seniority purposes. Former employees of district will be precluded from service credit earned prior to retirement.

In determining the amount of service credit to be recommended for an initial placement on the teacher's salary schedule, the Superintendent may consider the following criteria:

- All years of service credit in the Liberty Center School District regardless of training level with each year consisting of at least 120 days under a teacher's contract.
- Years of teaching service in a charter, non-public school located in Ohio as a teacher certified pursuant to Section 3319.22 of the Ohio Revised Code, or in another public school regardless of training level with each year consisting at least 120 days under a teacher's contract.
- 3. Years of teaching service in a chartered school or institution or school or institution that subsequently became chartered or a chartered special education program, or a special education program subdivision or other local government unit of the state as a teacher certified pursuant to Section 3319.22 of the Ohio Revised Code regardless of training level with each year consisting of at least 120 days.
- 4. Years of active military service in the Armed Forces of the United States as defined in Section 3307.22 of the Ohio Revised Code for a maximum of five (5) years. For the purpose of this calculation, a partial year of active military service of eight (8) continuous months or more in the Armed Forces shall be counted as a full year.
- 5. The Superintendent shall not be prohibited from granting service credit for teaching experience in schools outside Ohio or outside the United States, or for prior work experience which is related to the teaching profession. The Superintendent shall also have the discretion to grant a full-year's credit for certain teaching service even though service may consist of less than 120 days.

Returning retirees hired by the Board shall be employed under one (1) year limited contracts. The Board may evaluate returning retirees in accordance with the evaluation procedure contained in the collective bargaining agreement between the Board and the Liberty Center Education Association. However, any returning retiree hired is ineligible for continuing contract status and/or to receive a continuing employment contract from the Board, and any right thereto is specifically waived by this provision.

A returning retiree is eligible for insurance coverage per this agreement.

This provision is specifically intended to supersede the requirement of ORC 3319.11, ORC 3319.111, ORC 3317.13, ORC 3317.14, Chapter 3307 of the Ohio Revised Code and any other conflicting provision of the Ohio Revised Code.

# E. PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE AND EDUCATIONAL ADVANCEMENT

All staff members shall indicate, on forms provided by the Board, the additional course work, if any, taken in the past year. Those staff members who have taken no additional course work shall also complete the form to indicate that no additional course work has been completed in the past year.

All staff members qualifying for advanced placement on the salary schedule as a result of additional course work will submit an official transcript or grade report and written request for advancement on the salary scale to the Treasurer of the Board on or before September 30 of the school year for advancement beginning with the first semester or not later than February 15 for advancement beginning with the second semester.

All such advancements shall be retroactive to the beginning of the appropriate semester. The first payment for such advancement on the salary schedule shall begin not later than the close of the second pay period following the deadline for the submission of official transcripts or grade records and except for any retroactivity shall be uniformly and equally distributed among all subsequent pays for the remainder of the school year.

# F. DIRECT DEPOSIT

Except in special cases where the salary would not be sufficient to warrant payment in this manner, all employees shall be paid in 26 pay periods, every two weeks on alternating Fridays, with salary payments to be made two week in arrears. Payment will begin not later than the third Friday after the beginning of the school year. There will not be more than 26 pay periods in a given calendar year. Salary checks will be issued the Friday following the close of the two (2) week pay period or the day preceding a scheduled bank holiday should the Friday fall during the aforementioned except when the pay day falls in the next calendar/fiscal year.

The LCCTA membership will be paid through mandatory direct deposit. E-mail notification of direct deposit will be mandatory for all members.

# G. EXTENDED TIME COMPENSATION

Certified/Licensed staff employed beyond the regular nine (9) month school year will be issued supplemental contracts for extended time. Such employees will be paid at a daily rate based on the employee's base salary (according to the current salary schedule).

#### Compensation for Committee Work

Bargaining unit members serving on district committees, other than those specified in this agreement, will receive released time or be compensated if meetings are not held during the contracted school day. The rate of compensation shall be \$25.00 per hour up to a maximum of \$50.00 per day.

Bargaining unit members serving on BLT and/or DLT will receive a \$300.00 annual stipend. The BLT will include four (4) to seven (7) members, DLT will include up to ten (10) members from across the bargaining unit. This stipend is compensation for after school meetings and summer meetings. This stipend will be paid at the last pay at the end of the school year. Each building administrator should give a list of BLT members to the Treasurer at the beginning of May.

Bargaining unit members serving on the Evaluation Committee will receive \$25.00 per hour.

Compensation for Elementary Family Night

A stipend for Elementary Family Night will be paid to teachers at \$25 per participant.

### H. OUTSIDE OF SCHOOL DAY COMPENSATION

Any staff member chosen to teach or supervise outside of the school day for purposes of, but not limited to, homebound tutoring, academic tutoring, homework clinic, disciplinary classes, shall be compensated at the rate of twenty-five (\$25.00) per hour.

#### I. STUDENT TEACHER SUPERVISION HONORARIUM

The Board of Education agrees when one or more colleges or universities desire to place their students in the classroom for the purpose of their participating in teacher education experiences, that certificated/licensed personnel, who agree to serve as supervisors of teacher education experiences may accept an honorarium or stipend from the college and/or university to be paid by the district through payroll.

#### J. ANNUAL SALARY NOTICES

The parties agree that annual salary notices pursuant to ORC 3319.12 will be provided in email form.

#### K. OTHER PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

The Board agrees to make the following deductions upon the yearly written request of the employee, provided that no fewer than five (5) employees participate in any one plan. United Way and Ohio Tuition Trust Authority shall be the only exceptions to the five (5) member stipulation.

- a. Credit Union
- b. Income Protection Insurance
- c. Tax Sheltered Annuities A calculation form indicating the maximum excludable allowance of the employee's salary must be submitted in accordance with IRS code, Section 403. In the event that an employee chooses a "special option", a calculation form detailing the determination of the special amount must be submitted. The responsibility for the proper calculation is that of the employee, and, accordingly, all calculations must be signed by the employee and insurance company representative. Companies are to provide such forms.
- d. Cancer Insurance
- e. United Way
- f. Political contributions of not less than \$1.00 per pay period
- g. Savings Bonds
- h. Ohio Tuition Trust Authority
- i. LCSEF (Liberty Center Schools Educational Foundation)
- j. Purchase STRS service credit
- k. 457 Deferred Compensation Plan

If for any reason the Board fails to make a deduction for any employee as above provided, it shall make that deduction from the employee's next pay in which such deduction is normally deducted after the error has been called to its attention (in writing) by the employee.

Except for Association dues withholding as otherwise provided herein, said deduction(s) shall commence with the first check of the next month following submission of the request and shall continue in equal amounts for the remainder of the checks in the year.

#### L. HOSPITAL SURGICAL/MAJOR MEDICAL

The Board shall provide health insurance coverage for each certificated/licensed employee now or hereafter employed and his/her dependents. Such coverage will be the choice of the employee among any plans offered by the Northern Buckeye Health Plan (NBHP). An open enrollment period will be held annually and the employee will have the opportunity to enroll in either plan each year. The open enrollment will be held in November and the plan will go into effect January 1 of each year and will operate on a calendar year basis.

The employee will pay a portion of the premium each year. The premium portion paid by the employee will be a pre-tax contribution. The Board will pay the premium for the cost of single coverage and family coverage at a rate not greater than 92% of the cost of Access Plus 1 for 2017-18, 91% for 2018-19, and 90% for 2019-20 and the employee will pay the balance. The employee share of such premium cost will be uniformly and equally divided and withheld from each affected individual's paycheck.

In the event the employee elects a HDHP, the Board will pay up to \$1,160.00 of the monthly premium and contribute to a Health Savings Account (HSA) in the amount of \$1,800.00 for 2017-18, \$1,600.00 for 2018-19, and \$1,500.00 for 2019-20 per family plan. For a single plan, the Board will pay up to \$438.00 per month of the monthly premium and contribute to a Health Savings Account (HSA) in the amount of \$1,200.00 for 2017-18, \$1,100.00 for 2018-19, and \$1,000.00 for 2019-20. The contribution will be made in quarterly installments beginning with the first pay in January.

For employees who are currently on the HDHP as of January 1, 2017, the Board will also pay up to \$1,160.00 of the monthly premium for family and up to \$438.00 per month for single. Those employees will receive \$1,500.00 annual contributions to their health savings account per family plan and \$1,000.00 annual contributions per single plan for the duration of this contract. The contribution will be made in quarterly installments beginning with the first pay in January.

During the life of this agreement, members have the option of using Activate Clinics or the network providers of the negotiated health care plan. At no time will a member be required to use the Activate Clinics in lieu of the network providers of the negotiated health insurance plan. This does not preclude members from using out of network providers.

Full-time or part-time employees who are employed for less than 15 hours weekly shall not be eligible for health insurance benefits.

#### M. DENTAL INSURANCE

The Board shall provide employee and family dental insurance protection equal to or exceeding the current breadth and level of benefits and coverage in effect as of June 1, 1998. Adult orthodontics will be provided in the coverage. Dental plan shall be the premium plan.

The Board will pay eighty percent (80%) of the full cost of family coverage.

The employee's share of such premium cost will be uniformly and equally divided and withheld from each affected individual's paycheck.

#### N. VISION INSURANCE

The Board shall provide employee and family vision insurance. The Board will pay one hundred percent (100%).

#### O. SECTION 125 CAFETERIA PLAN

The Board of Education will put into place a benefit plan as provided under section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code (the Plan). The plan will include those benefits established in the negotiated agreement and to the extent permissible under current regulations, provide for the tax shelter of any payments required of bargaining unit members for the purchase of those benefits. Any such plan will be subject to change in the event of a change in the applicable tax laws or regulations. The Association will be notified prior to the implementation of any such change.

#### P. LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS

The Board shall purchase from a carrier of its choice a group term life insurance policy in the amount of \$50,000 for each certificated/licensed employee, plus an equal amount of accidental death and dismemberment coverage.

#### Q. CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE COVERAGE

The Board shall continue to carry on the payroll records all members of the bargaining unit whose sick leave accumulation has expired and/or who are on an approved leave of absence, but the Board will not pay any portion of the premium(s) due while the employee is under the provisions as stated above. The employee may continue insurance coverage pursuant to Federal Cobra regulations (Public Law 99-272, Title X).

#### R. SEVERANCE PAY

Severance pay shall be a lump sum payment to eligible employees according to the following provisions:

1. Eligibility

An employee's eligibility for severance pay shall be determined as of the final date of employment. The following terms must be met:

- a. The individual must retire from employment with public schools in Ohio. The employee retires under regulations adopted by either the Ohio teacher's retirement system or the Ohio school employees' retirement system.
- b. The individual must be eligible for disability or service retirement as of the last date of employment.
- c. Within thirty (30) days of the last date of employment, the individual must substantiate acceptance into one of the State retirement systems by having received and shown the first retirement check or other verification of retirement to the Treasurer.
- d. After presentation of such evidence, the severance pay check will be issued as follows: (1) one-half (1/2) within 30 days following the date of the employee's retirement; and (2) one-half (1/2) during the first 30 days of the next following calendar year. The severance pay will be paid to an IRS Section 403(B) Accumulated Leave Plan as adopted by the Board of Education.

For retirees under the age of 55, the severance pay will not qualify for the IRS Section 403(B) Accumulated Leave Plan as adopted by the Board of Education. The severance pay will be paid in cash unless the retiree directs the district office to pay the funds into a 403(B) or 457 Deferred Comp plan that is an approved provider for the district.

- e. Any employee who meets the service requirements of the above division and who dies while in the employ of the school district, shall, on the day of death, be deemed to have terminated employment by means other than retirement, and payment of all severance pay shall be made in the manner prescribed in ORC 2113.04.
- 2. Benefit Calculation

The amount of the severance pay check due an employee shall be computed as follows:

- a. The employee's accrued but unused sick leave shall be multiplied by one-fourth, except that the product thus obtained shall not exceed the value of fifty-five (55) days of accrued but unused sick leave.
- b. The product obtained in item one shall be multiplied by the per diem rate of pay appropriate for that individual's placement on the salary schedule. The per diem rate of pay shall be computed by dividing the employee's teaching salary by the number of days which that employee is required to work under the terms of the contract in effect at the time of such retirement.
- c. Receipt of the payment for the accrued but unused sick leave as outlined above when an employee retires under the designation of retirement shall eliminate all sick leave credit accrued by the employ.
- 3. Early Announcement Retirement Incentive

Bargaining Unit Members who are qualified to retire and notify the Superintendent prior to February 1<sup>st</sup> of each year will receive a \$1,000 retirement incentive. This is paid to an IRS Section 403B Accumulated Leave plan.

4. Service Retirement Recognition Stipend

Bargaining Unit Members who retire from Liberty Center Local Schools who are qualified for and receive service retirement benefits from STRS will be eligible for a service recognition retirement stipend. This stipend will be in the amount of \$15,000. In order to qualify for the stipend, the member must give notice of intent to retire to the Superintendent or his designee not later then March 1st of the first year in which he/she is eligible to retire, and to retire at the end of that school year. The end of school year includes any or all student days or make up days and teacher work days for calamity reasons.

The service retirement recognition stipend will be paid to an IRS Section 403(B) Accumulated Leave Plan as adopted by the Board of Education. The stipend will be paid in two (2) installments on the same schedule as the severance pay (Art. VI, Section S, 1d).

For retirees under the age of 55, the service retirement recognition stipend may only be paid in cash per IRS regulations.

#### S. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

With the prior approval of the Superintendent, any staff member who enrolls in up to twelve (12) semester hours or eighteen (18) quarter hours per contract year of course work related to his/her instructional responsibilities at an accredited college or university shall be reimbursed to a maximum of \$100.00 per quarter hour and/or \$150.00 per semester hour from the Board for his/her tuition upon the successful completion of such course work. Such reimbursement will not be granted until the staff member provides the Superintendent with a written summary of the approved course, and until the Treasurer is provided with a grade report or a transcript showing the course was completed and a receipt documenting payment of the class including the amount and method of payment (i.e. cancelled check,

credit card receipt, etc.). Such reimbursement will also not be granted unless the staff member receives a "B" or an equivalent passing grade (under a pass/fail system).

Applications for reimbursement should be submitted prior to enrollment in approved course work.

#### T. STRS PICKUP

The Board of Education will "pick up" (assume and pay), utilizing the salary reduction method, contributions to the State Teachers Retirement System paid on behalf of bargaining unit employees under the following terms and conditions:

- 1. The amount to be picked-up and paid on behalf of each employee shall be the total bargaining unit member contribution as required in Section 3307.51 of the Revised Code or any statutory increases therein, of the bargaining unit member's gross annual compensation, at no cost to the Board of Education, and upon approval of the retirement system. The bargaining unit member's gross annual compensation shall be reduced for the purposes of State and Federal tax only by an amount equal to the amount picked-up and paid by the Board of Education.
- The Board shall compute and remit all applicable contributions to the STRS based upon annual salary and/or earned compensation which includes the amount of pick-up computed herein, but assumes no further liability.
- The pick-up percentage shall apply uniformly to all members of the bargaining unit as a condition of employment. No bargaining unit member covered by this provision shall have the option to elect a wage increase or other benefit in lieu of the employer pick-up.
- 4. The pick-up shall apply to all compensation including supplemental earnings.
- 5. The current deferred taxation of the "pick-up" is determined solely by the I.R.S. and any tax liability becomes the full responsibility of the employee. The Board may refuse to "pick-up" as so directed by the State Teachers Retirement System or the Internal Revenue Service or should the rules and regulations of the I.R.S., or STRS, change so as to render this procedure unworkable, the parties agree to return, without penalty, to the former method of computing employee/employer contributions.
- Payment for all paid leaves sick leave, personal leave, severance, supplementals, including unemployment and worker's compensation - shall be based on the employee's daily gross pay prior to the reduction for "pick-up purposes" (e.g. gross pay divided by the number of days in a staff member's contract).

# Liberty Center Local Schools Certified Salary Schedule 2017-2018

# 2.75% Base Increase

Year Exp.	BA	135-149 Hrs.	150 Hrs.	M.A.	M.A.+15 Hrs.	M./	A.+30 Hrs.
0	\$ 35,930	\$ 37,186	\$ 37,726	\$ 41,319	\$ 42,755	\$	44,193
Index	1.000	1.035	1.050	1.150	1.190		1.230
1	\$ 37,726	\$ 38,983	\$ 39,522	\$ 43,115	\$ 44,552	\$	45,990
Index	1.050	1.085	1.100	1.200	1.240		1.280
2	\$ 39,522	\$ 40,779	\$ 41,319	\$ 44,911	Ş 46,348	\$	47,786
Index	1.100	1.135	1.150	1.250	1.290		1.330
3	\$ 41,319	\$ 42,577	\$ 43,115	\$ 46,708	\$ 48,146	Ş	49,582
Index	1.150	1.185	1,200	1 300	1.340		1.380
4	\$ 43,115	\$ 44,373	\$ 44,911	\$ 48,504	\$ 49,942	Ş	51,379
Index	1.200	1.235	1.250	1.350	1.390		1.430
5	\$ 45,091	\$ 46,348	\$ 46,888	\$ 50,480	\$ 51,918	\$	53,355
Index	1.255	1.290	1.305	1.405	1.445		1.485
6	\$ 47,068	\$ 48,324	\$ 48,864	\$ 52,457	\$ 53,893	Ş	55,331
Index	1.310	1.345	1.360	1.460	1.500		1.540
7	\$ 49,044	\$ 50,301	\$ 50,840	\$ 54,433	\$ 55,870	\$	57,307
Index	1.365	1.400	1.415	1.515	1.555		1.595
8	\$ 51,019	\$ 52,277	\$ 52,816	\$ 56,409	\$ 57,846	Ş	59,284
Index	1.420	1.455	1.470	1.570	1.610		1.650
9	\$ 52,995	\$ 54,253	\$ 54,792	\$ 58,385	\$ 59,822	\$	61,260
Index	1.475	1.510	1.525	1.625	1.665		1.705
10	\$ 55,151	\$ 56,409	\$ 56,948	\$ 60,540	\$ 61,978	\$	63,415
Index	1.535	1.570	1.585	1.685	1 725		1.765
11	\$ 57,307	\$ 58,564	\$ 59,104	\$ 62,696	\$ 64,133	Ş	65,571
Index	1.595	1.630	1.645	1.745	1.785		1.825
12	\$ 59,822	\$ 61,080	\$ 61,618	\$ 65,211	\$ 66,649	\$	68,086
Index	1.665	1.700	1.715	1.815	1.855		1.895
13	\$ 62,337	\$ 63,595	\$ 64,133	\$ 67,727	\$ 69,164	Ş	70,601
Index	1.735	1.770	1.785	1.885	1.925		1.965
14	\$ 64,852	\$ 66,109	\$ 66,649	\$ 70,601	\$ 72,038	\$	73,475
Index	1.805	1.840	1.855	1.965	2.005		2.045

15-19 years	\$2,650.00
20-23 years	\$3,250.00
24-26 years	\$3,850.00
27+ years	\$4,450.00
30+ years	\$5,200.00

# Liberty Center Local Schools Certified Salary Schedule 2018-2019

# 2.75% Base Increase

Year Exp.	BA	135-149 Hrs.	150 Hrs.	M.A.	M.A.+15 Hrs.	M.A.+30 Hrs.
0	\$36,918	\$38,209	\$38,763	\$42,455	\$43,931	\$45,408
Index	1.000	1.035	1.050	1.150	1.190	1.230
1	\$38,763	\$40,055	\$40,609	\$44,301	\$45,777	\$47,255
Index	1.050	1.085	1.100	1.200	1.240	1.280
2	\$40,609	\$41,900	\$42,455	\$46,146	\$47,623	\$49,100
Index	1.100	1.135	1.150	1.250	1.290	1.330
3	\$42,455	\$43,748	\$44,301	\$47,992	\$49,470	\$50,946
Index	1.150	1.185	1.200	1.300	1.340	1.380
4	\$44,301	\$45,593	\$46,146	\$49,838	\$51,315	\$52,792
Index	1.200	1.235	1.250	1.350	1.390	1.430
5	\$46,331	\$47,623	\$48,177	\$51,868	\$53,346	\$54,822
Index	1.255	1.290	1.305	1.405	1.445	1.485
6	\$48,362	\$49,653	\$50,208	\$53,900	\$55,375	\$56,853
Index	1.310	1.345	1.360	1.460	1.500	1.540
7	\$50,393	\$51,684	\$52,238	\$55,930	\$57,406	\$58,883
Index	1.365	1,400	1.415	1.515	1.555	1.595
8	\$52,422	\$53,715	\$54,268	\$57,960	\$59,437	\$60,914
Index	1.420	1.455	1.470	1.570	1.610	1.650
9	\$54,452	\$55,745	\$56,299	\$59,991	\$61,467	\$62,945
Index	1.475	1.510	1.525	1.625	1.665	1.705
10	\$56,668	\$57,960	\$58,514	\$62,205	\$63,682	\$65,159
Index	1.535	1.570	1.585	1.685	1.725	1.765
11	\$58,883	\$60,175	\$60,729	\$64,420	\$65,897	\$67,374
Index	1.595	1.630	1.645	1.745	1.785	1.825
12	\$61,467	\$62,760	\$63,312	\$67,004	\$68,482	\$69,958
Index	1.665	1.700	1.715	1.815	1.855	1.895
13	\$64,051	\$65,344	\$65,897	\$69,589	\$71,066	\$72,543
Index	1.735	1.770	1.785	1.885	1.925	1.965
14	\$66,635	\$67,927	\$68,482	\$72,543	\$74,019	\$75,496
Index	1.805	1.840	1.855	1.965	2.005	2.045
15-19 years	\$2,650.00					
20-23 years	\$3,250.00					

20-23 years	\$3,250.00
24-26 years	\$3,850.00
071	#4 450 00

- 24-26 years 27+ years
- \$4,450.00 \$5,200.00 30+ years

# Liberty Center Local Schools Certified Salary Schedule 2019-2020

#### 2.75% Base Increase

Year Exp.	BA	135-149 Hrs.	150 Hrs.	M.A.	M.A.+15 Hrs.	M.A.+30 Hrs.	
o	\$37,933	\$39,260	\$39,829	\$43,623	\$45,139	\$46,657	
Index	1.000	1.035	1.050	1.150	1.190	1.230	
1	\$39,829	\$41,157	\$41,726	\$45,519	\$47,036	\$48,555	
Index	1.050	1.085	1.100	1.200	1.240	1.280	
2	\$41,726	\$43,052	\$43,623	\$47,415	\$48,933	\$50,450	
Index	1.100	1.135	1.150	1.250	1.290	1.330	
3	\$43,623	\$44,951	\$45,519	\$49,312	\$50,830	\$52,347	
Index	1.150	1.185	1.200	1.300	1.340	1.380	
4	\$45,519	\$46,847	\$47,415	\$51,209	\$52,726	\$54,244	
Index	1.200	1.235	1.250	1.350	1.390	1.430	
5	\$47,605	\$48,933	\$49,502	\$53,294	\$54,813	\$56,330	
Index	1.255	1.290	1.305	1.405	1.445	1.485	
6	\$49,692	\$51,018	\$51,589	\$55,382	\$56,898	\$58,416	
Index	1.310	1.345	1.360	1.460	1.500	1.540	
7	\$51,779	\$53,105	\$53,675	\$57,468	\$58,985	\$60,502	
Index	1.365	1.400	1.415	1.515	1.555	1.595	
8	\$53,864	\$55,192	\$55,760	\$59,554	\$61,072	\$62,589	
Index	1.420	1.455	1.470	1.570	1.610	1.650	
9	\$55,949	\$57,278	\$57,847	\$61,641	\$63,157	\$64,676	
Index	1.475	1.510	1.525	1.625	1.665	1.705	
10	\$58,226	\$59,554	\$60,123	\$63,916	\$65,433	\$66,951	
Index	1.535	1.570	1.585	1.685	1.725	1.755	
11	\$60,502	\$61,830	\$62,399	\$66,192	\$67,709	\$69,227	
Index	1.595	1.630	1.645	1.745	1.785	1.825	
12	\$63,157	\$64,486	\$65,053	\$68,847	\$70,365	\$71,882	
Index	1.665	1.700	1.715	1.815	1.855	1.895	
13	\$65,812	\$67,141	\$67,709	\$71,503	\$73,020	\$74,538	
Index	1.735	1.770	1.785	1.885	1.925	1.965	
14	\$68,467	\$69,795	\$70,365	\$74,538	\$76,055	\$77,572	
Index	1.805	1.840	1.855	1.965	2.005	2.045	

15-19 years	\$2,650.00
20-23 years	\$3,250.00
24-26 years	\$3,850.00
27+ years	\$4,450.00
30+ years	\$5,200.00

# Liberty Center Local Schools Certified Salary Schedule SUPPLEMENTAL SALARIES Schedule of Increments for Additional Assigned Duties

#### COACHING CATEGORIES Į.

- A. Football, Boys' and Girls' Basketball, Wrestling Category I
- B. Volleyball Category II
  C. Boys' and Girls' Track, Baseball, Softball, Soccer Category III
- D. Cross Country, Golf, Bowling Category IV

Ye	ars Experience	0-2	3-5	6-8	<b>9-</b> 11	12-14	14+	
L.	BASKETBALL (Boys and Gi	rls)						
	Head Coach	17	18	19	20	21	22	
	Assistants	11	12	13	14	15	16	
	Freshman	9	10	11	12	13	14	
	Junior High	8	9	10	11	12	13	
	FOOTBALL							
	Head Coach	17	18	19	20	21	22	
	Assistants	11	12	13	14	15	16	
	Freshman	9	10	11	12	13	14	
	Junior High	8	9	10	11	12	13	
	WRESTLING							
	Head Coach	17	18	19	20	21	22	
	Assistants	11	12	13	14	15	16	
	Junior High	8	9	10	11	12	13	
	Years Experiences	0-2	3-5	6-8	9-11	12-14	14+	
n.	VOLLEYBALL							
	Head Coach	16	17	18	19	20	21	
	Assistant	8	11	12	13	14	15	
	Freshman	8	9	10	11	12	13	
	Junior High	7	8	9	10	11	12	
111.	SOFTBALL/BASEBALL							
	Head Coach	15	16	17	18	19	20	
	Assistant	9	10	11	12	13	14	
	TRACK (Boys and Girls)							
	Head Coach	15	16	17	18	19	20	
	Assistant	9	10	11	12	13	14	
	Junior High	7	8	9	10	11	12	

SOCCER (Boys and Girls)						
Head Coach	15	16	17	18	19	20
Assistant	9	10	11	12	13	14
IV. CROSS COUNTRY						
Head Coach	12	13	14	15	16	17
Assistant	9	10	11	12	13	14
Junior High	6	7	8	9	10	11
GOLF						
Head Coach	11	12	13	14	15	16
BOWLING						
Head Coach	10	11	12	13	14	15
GAME MANAGER	20	21	22	23	24	25
CHEERLEADER ADVISORS						
Football 6	11% fc	or both				
Basketball 7	11% fc	or both				
Freshman 5						
Jr. High 7						
WRESTLERETTES	6					
WEIGHT ROOM COORDINATOR	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%

#### OTHER COMMENTS:

SOCCEP (Pour and Girle)

- A. No present coach should be paid a lower percentage than they are presently paid. All present coaches are grandfathered in. Use both old/new schedules during transition.
- B. Any coach moving down in a position of a particular sport will keep their years of experience on the salary schedule.
- C. Any coach moving up in a position of a particular sport will be paid at a rate no less than what they were making previously.
- D. Longevity Stipend \$1,000.00 for any <u>head</u> coach who has been in a paid position for 18 years or more. \$500.00 for any other coach who has been in a paid position for 18 years or more.

#### Schedule of Increments for Additional Assigned Duties

For the following assigned duties, the percentage supplemental will increase according to the scale with the number of years' experience in that position/activity provided the years of service have not been interrupted for more than three years (e.g. junior class advisor that chooses to take a senior class advisor would maintain longevity).

Class Advisorships	0-2 yrs	3-5 yrs	6-8 yrs	yrs	12-14 yrs	14+ yrs
Senior Class	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%
Junior Class	9.50%	9.75%	10.00%	10.25%	10.50%	10.75%
Sophomore Class	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%
Freshman Class	5.00%	5.25%	5.50%	5.75%	6.00%	6.25%
Others						
National Junior Honor Society	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Spanish Club	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Art Club	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Jr. Great Books	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Jr. Great Books	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
SADD	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Elementary Musical	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Elementary Art Show	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Junior High Quiz Team	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Future Business Leaders of America	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
Tiger Tales (with 1 instructional period)	1.50%	1.75%	2.00%	2.25%	2.50%	2.75%
National Honor Society	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%
Student Council Junior High	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%
Student Council-Elementary	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%
District Mentors	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%
District Mentor Coordinator 0 Teachers	2.75%	3.00%	3.25%	3.50%	3.75%	4.00%
District Mentor Coordinator 1-3 Teachers	5.35%	5.60%	5.85%	6.10%	6.35%	6.60%
Vocal Music Director	5.00%	5.25%	5.50%	5.75%	6.00%	6.25%
HS Quiz Team	6.00%	6.25%	6.50%	6.75%	7.00%	7.25%
Student Council-High School	6.00%	6.25%	6.50%	6.75%	7.00%	7.25%
Pit Band Director	6.00%	6.25%	6.50%	6.75%	7.00%	7.25%
Asst. Musical Director	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%
Asst. Band Director	7.00%	7.25%	7.50%	7.75%	8.00%	8.25%
District Mentor Coordinator 4+Teachers	9.50%	9,75%	10.00%	10.25%	10.50%	10.75%
Yearbook	10.50%	10.75%	11.00%	11.25%	11.50%	11.75%
Musical Director	10.50%	10.75%	11.00%	11.25%	11.50%	11.75%
Director of Bands	11.50%	12.50%	13.50%	14.50%	15.50%	16.50%

#### Article VIII

#### **TEACHING CONDITIONS**

#### A. SCHOOL CALENDAR

Prior to the circulation of alternate calendars the Superintendent will obtain input from LCCTA members.

The Superintendent will provide the Association with alternate calendars so that the Association may indicate its preference. The Association will be given at least five (5) school days in which to circulate such calendar options and otherwise assess the preference of the certified/licensed staff.

For the purposes of calamity days, any student instruction hours over 1001 will be used for calamity day calculations.

#### B. SCHOOL YEAR

- 1. The work-year for staff members, unless on extended time contracts, shall not exceed one hundred and eighty-four (184) days.
- 2. Included in the one hundred eighty-four (184) days shall be the following:
  - a. 178 student contact days
  - b. Two (2) teacher workdays-one (1) workday at the beginning of the school year, and one (1) at the end of the school year.
  - c. Two (2) days designated as Professional Development activities planned by the District Leadership Team (DLT).
- 3. During the 2017-18 school year, due to the move-in to the new building, the Board agrees to pay two (2) days at each individual teachers per diem rate. One (1) work day will be scheduled for each individual teacher during the week of December 18, 2017 with the other work day to be completed at the discretion of the teacher. All move in will be completed by January 5, 2018. Payment for these two work days will be one on December 22, 2017 and one on January 5, 2018. Teachers will be informed of their scheduled move-in date by October 16, 2017. This language is only applicable to the 2017-18 school year.
- C. SCHOOL DAY
  - The school day for all full-time teaching employees shall be 7.5 hours (7:30 a.m. 3:00 p.m.) inclusive of a daily duty-free 30 minute lunch period for each teacher. If all members of the team agree, the team may propose to the principal an alternative to the 7:30 a.m. arrival time. Building staff meetings will average no more than two (2) per month. Adjustment of an individual teacher's day for scheduling of a class on a flextime basis may be done with agreement between teacher and principal. (See MOU Appendix K)
  - 2. Parent teacher conference days will be as follows: Two (2) concurrent days for a total of 7.5 hours. The first day will be in the evening following a school day and run from 3:30 p.m. to 7:30 p.m. The following day would be in the morning from 7:30 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. Teachers will maintain a parent-contact log (found in Appendix J) where they will document an additional 7.5 hours of parent contact. Teachers will turn in their contact log to their building principal at the end of the year check-out.

#### D. TEACHER WORK DAYS

On the first teacher work day no more than two (2) hours will be used for building staff meetings. The rest of the time will be reserved to permit teacher preparation of classrooms and/or materials. The other days will be for work/planning, grading, or other preparations; individual check-out meetings shall include general meeting(s) of the faculty as designated by the principal.

#### E. NOTICE FOR SCHOOL CLOSING/DELAYS

A decision to close or delay a school day shall be communicated by the Superintendent to local news media to announce. Unit members shall not be required to report for duty if their building is closed.

In the event that the board extends the school day after the calamity time bank has been used (pursuant to board policy 8210), bargaining unit members having appointments on said days who would otherwise have to use sick leave or personal leave to maintain their scheduled appointments will be excused from school early up to a maximum of one hour prior to the student dismissal time. Those bargaining unit members needing the early dismissal shall not suffer any loss of pay nor be charged any use of leave. Bargaining unit members who do not have scheduled appointments may leave after students are dismissed.

In the event of school delays, extended days, or planned early dismissals, all high school class periods shall meet a minimum of twenty (20) minutes, with student contact time equalized as much as possible.

All scheduled vacations on the school calendar shall remain in effect and make-up days shall be added at the end of the school year.

#### F. COLLABORATION/PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT TRAINING

 The Building Leadership Team (BLT) and the District Leadership Team (DLT) would be responsible for the planning and scheduling of all in-service programs. Staff members shall be provided with the topic of the in-service three (3) days prior to the in-service. One representative from each Building Leadership Team (BLT) and the District Leadership Team (DLT) will jointly implement the plan.

#### G. GRADE PREPARATION

Prior to the date of grade submission for the first three (3) grading periods, the administration will provide two (2) full teacher days to allow teachers time to prepare and submit grade averages.

#### H. GRADING PERIODS

Grades will be issued at nine (9) week intervals to elementary, junior, and high school students. Interim reports will be issued to all students who are achieving at a less than average or satisfactory level as defined by the Board-adopted grading policy. Interim reports shall not be due on the first day following Thanksgiving and spring vacations.

#### I. CLASS SIZE

Class size shall be equalized as much as possible, with built in flexibility to take into consideration high needs students, preps, and duties.

#### J. EMERGENCY PERIOD SUBSTITUTES

In the event regular substitutes are not hired, professional staff members may volunteer to serve as period substitutes during their regularly scheduled preparation periods.

- 1. Requests for period substitutions shall be made as far ahead as possible.
- Substitution shall be made within the professional staff member's department and/or grade level when possible.
- Requests for period substitutes shall be distributed as equally as possible among professional staff members desiring to substitute.
- 4. In the event no voluntary period substitutes are available, the principal may require a professional staff member to serve as a period substitute so as to provide supervision of all classes.
- Classroom teaching staff who volunteer or are required to substitute on an emergency period basis as provided herein shall be compensated at a rate of \$7.50 per class per period.
- 6. Elementary classroom teaching staff (K-5) who volunteer or are required to cover the students of another teacher (in such cases where a substitute teacher is unavailable) shall receive the substitute teachers' rate of pay as adopted by the Liberty Center Local Board of Education. If more than one teacher covers the class, the substitute pay shall be divided among those teachers covering the class.

Substitutions will be made within the same grade level when possible. The building principal will determine how the absent teacher's students will be covered for the day. The total amount paid to substitutes for one day's teacher absence is the daily substitute rate.

7. Guidance counselors will only be used as the last alternative.

#### K. DRESS AND GROOMING GUIDELINES

All employees shall dress in good taste to promote a professional image for the school.

- Except for physical education classes, field trips and work days, staff will not be permitted to wear shorts while performing their regular school duties during the school day.
- 2. Staff members shall dress neatly and maintain good personal hygiene.
- 3. Staff members will not be allowed to wear blue jeans while performing their regular school duties during the school day. Blue jeans are permitted on teacher workdays and on field trips or any unusual circumstances that have been pre-approved by the building principal. If it is deemed appropriate by the Superintendent, then he/she will issue a memo regarding the wearing of blue jeans on an in-service day.

It is the responsibility of the entire staff to promote a good professional image during school hours and at all school functions.

#### L. DUTY FREE LUNCH PERIOD

Each staff member employed by the Board of Education of a school district shall be granted at least thirty (30) minutes for lunch each school day, during which time he/she shall not be required to perform any school activity.

Duties shall be assigned to the entire staff on a rotational basis in a fair and equitable manner. Staff members who wish to leave the school during their 30-minute lunch period shall notify the principal or duty personnel prior to leaving.

#### M. ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION IN THE SELECTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE CANDIDATES

When a new administrator is being sought, the Association may be invited to appoint a representative from the elementary staff, the junior high school staff, the high school staff, and its executive committee to participate in the administrative selection process.

#### N. BUILDING ACCESS

Building keys and/key cards will be made available to all teaching staff members. Each bargaining unit member will be provided a set of keys and/or key card that will give them access to the building, their classroom and a copier/printer. The staff member will pay to replace lost sets of keys at a cost of \$100.00 or a key card at a cost of \$10.00.

#### O. LOCAL PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The Local Professional Development Committee (LPDC) shall be formed for the Liberty Center Local School District in compliance with the appropriate provisions of the Ohio Revised Code. The rights, benefits and privileges granted by Senate Bill 230 shall be in effect.

The LPDC shall have a district level scope. It shall consist of three (3) teachers and two (2) administrators for a total of five (5) members. The exclusive bargaining representative (LCCTA) shall have discretion in choosing the three (3) teacher members to serve on the LPDC. In the case of administrator plan review, the committee shall be made up of a majority of administrators. The Superintendent will designate the two (2) administrative personnel to serve on the LPDC. LPDC members will serve for a three (3) year term provided they remain employed by the Board. Teaching vacancies shall be filled by designation of the exclusive bargaining representative (LCCTA). The Superintendent shall appoint members to fill administrative vacancies.

Meetings shall be scheduled at least quarterly. Additional meetings may be scheduled as decided by a majority of the members. All meetings shall take place outside normal student instructional hours at the convenience of committee members. The members shall be paid a stipend of \$25 per hour for work performed outside their contractual working hours. The committee will promulgate by-laws, procedures and policies to be recommended for adoption by the Board of Education. Such procedures must include an appeals process and process for the conduct of elections.

The committee's responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to, approval of Individual Professional Development Plans for certified employees, development and approval of all district or building professional development activities, approval of C.E.U.s, coursework, workshops, in-service, or any other activity that could be used for professional growth credit.

#### P. EXTRA EDUCATIONAL SUPPLIES ALLOTMENT

The School Board agrees to appropriate \$165 per teacher for educational supplies to be used with the classroom. The educational supplies are to be purchased by the teacher with receipts presented to the treasurer for reimbursement. The teachers' appropriations are not to be used for classroom/food treats and are in addition to normal educational supplies requisitioned through the building principal. Reimbursement checks will be issued three (3) times a year (beginning of the year and at the end of each semester).

#### Q. TUITION WAIVER

The Board of Education agrees to allow non-resident bargaining unit members who have submitted the appropriate application, the right to have their children attend Liberty Center Schools tuition free. Application must be submitted to the superintendent by May 1 of each year. Non-resident bargaining unit members are asked to submit the Liberty Center Open Enrollment application to meet this requirement. The application must comply with the district open enrollment regulations. The application must also meet the following criteria:

- 1. Students will only be accepted if class size enrollment does not exceed accepted levels and additional staff is not required.
- 2. Non-resident bargaining unit members who have submitted the appropriate application will have priority over all new open enrollment students.

Staff members shall be notified in writing by July 30 of their acceptance or denial.

#### ARTICLE IX

#### OTHER PROVISIONS

# A. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Association recognizes that the Board is the duly elected body charged by law with the authority and responsibility to establish the educational and other policies of the Liberty Center Local School District and is further charged by law with the authority and responsibility to establish the rules and regulations by which the District shall be governed. Accordingly, subject only to the limitations specifically set forth in this Agreement or as set forth by law, the Association recognizes that the Board retains all of its statutory authority including but not limited to the authority and responsibility with respect to the management, supervision and control of the Liberty Center Local School District, including the right to employ, direct, assign, evaluate, terminate, non-renew, promote, demote, layoff and transfer employees; the right to establish and amend from time to time policies, rules and regulations not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement which are to be applicable to and observed by the employees; the right to determine, in accordance with law, the school calendar, the hours of the school day, the beginning and end of the school day, class size, pupil/teacher ratio and curriculum changes; and to determine all other matters and to exercise all other rights, with respect to the control and administration of the school district which are reposed by law in the Board and at the discretion of the Board.

#### B. NO STRIKE

Neither the Association, nor its agents, nor any bargaining unit member shall strike or engage in any slowdown, withholding of services or concerted activities designed to interfere with the normal operations of the school district during the term of this Agreement.

#### C. IN TERM BARGAINING

When in term bargaining is necessary pursuant to ORC 4117, the Association shall meet with the Administration for the purpose of such required bargaining within two (2) work days of such request.

#### D. AMENDMENT

This Agreement may be altered, deleted from, added to, or otherwise modified only through voluntary mutual consent of both parties in a written, signed amendment to this Agreement except that either party may, by request, open negotiations whenever there has been a change that affects wages, hours, or terms and conditions of employment. The submission of requests and subsequent negotiations for amendments following mutual agreement to amend and/or requests to reopen as set forth above shall be conducted in accordance with the negotiations procedures herein except that request for amendments and/or such reopening may be made at any time by either party. All such amendments shall be considered finalized upon ratification by the Board and the Association.

#### E. SEVERABILITY

The terms of this Agreement shall not apply where inconsistent with constitutional, statutory, or other legal provisions. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be contrary to law by the Supreme Court of the United States, or by any court having jurisdiction over Liberty Center Local School District from whose judgment or decree, no appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, such provision shall be null and void. However, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The parties of agreement shall meet within fifteen (15) school days to negotiate substitute provisions provided, however, that said substitute provisions shall not limit or such negotiations do not resolve the matter within twenty-one (21) school days thereafter, the normal impasse procedures will be used. Upon agreement and ratification by the parties, substitute provisions shall be incorporated into

this Agreement by written and signed amendments by the parties hereto. For such cases, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in effect for the duration of the contract, except in those sections where a shorter duration is specified.

#### F. DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of September 1, 2017, and, except as may be amended or modified pursuant to the provisions herein, shall remain in full force and effect through August 31, 2020. On or before April 1, prior to the expiration of this Agreement or specified provisions hereof, the parties shall begin negotiations for a new Agreement.

#### ARTICLE X

#### FAIR SHARE FEE

#### A. PAYROLL DEDUCTION OF FAIR SHARE FEE

The Board shall deduct from the pay of members of the bargaining unit who elect not to become or to remain members of the Liberty Center Classroom Teachers' Association a fair share fee for the Association's representation of such non-members during the term of this Contract.

#### B. NOTIFICATION OF THE AMOUNT OF FAIR SHARE FEE

Notice of the amount of the annual fair share fee shall be transmitted by the Association to the Treasurer of the Board on or about September 15 of each year during the term of this Contract for the purpose of determining amounts to be payroll deducted, and the Board agrees to promptly transmit all amounts deducted to the Association.

#### C. SCHEDULE OF FAIR SHARE FEE DEDUCTIONS

#### 1. All Fair Share Fee Payers

Payroll deduction of such fair share fees shall begin with the first payroll period following thirty (30) days after receipt of the financial disclosure information by the fair share payer.

#### 2. Termination of Membership During Membership Year

The Treasurer of the Board shall, upon notification from the Association that a member has terminated membership, commence the deduction of the fair share fee with respect to the former member, and the amount of the fee yet to be deducted shall be the annual fair share fee less the amount previously paid through payroll deduction.

#### D. TRANSMITTAL OF DEDUCTIONS

The Board further agrees to accompany each such transmittal with a list of the names of the bargaining unit members for whom all such fair share fee deductions were made, the period covered, and the amounts deducted for each.

#### E. PROCEDURE FOR REBATE

The Association represents to the Board that an internal rebate procedure has been established in accordance with Section 4117.09 (C) of the Revised Code and that a procedure for challenging the amount of the representation fee has been established and will be given to each member of the bargaining unit who does not join the Association and that such procedure and notice shall be in compliance with all applicable state and federal laws and the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Ohio.

#### F. ENTITLEMENT TO REBATE

Upon timely demand, non-members may apply to the Association for an advance reduction/rebate of the fair share fee pursuant to the internal procedure adopted by the Association.

# NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT

Signature Page

Liberty Center Classroom Teachers' Association

-15-17 President Date UIT 0 Date reasurer

15-17 **Negoliations Chairperson** Date

Liberty Center Board of Education

6-13-17 0 Date sident Pré 101317 1/2 ate

Superintendent Date

Informal Grievance Discussion Report

Date:

Brief Description of Issue Discussed as Possible Grievance:

Signature of Grievant

Date Signed

Signature of Administrator

Date Skined

LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM: LEVEL I Number\_\_\_\_\_

		Confirmation of Filing Date: Assoc. Pres.
Name of Grievant	Date Filed with Principal	Principal
Article and Section of Alleged Violation	Date of Allege Violation	ed
Statement of Grievance:		
Date Signed		
Signature of Principal		Date Signed
<ul> <li>Principal's Copy</li> <li>Superintendent's Copy</li> <li>Association's Copy</li> </ul>		If any space provided is insufficient, addenda may be affixed to this report. Grievance number, date, and signature should be placed on any addenda.

LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM: LEVEL II Number\_

Nam	e of Grievant	Date Filed with		Chatter a for a 1	) Date:
1.0000	ATCAN DISTORNEY	Principal			
S. Sectors	le and Section of ged Violation		Date of Alleged Violation		
	ement of vance:				
Relie	of Sought:				
-			~		
Signa	ature of Grievant(s)		_		41
Date	Signed				
Dispo	osition by Principal				
_					
Signa	ature of Principal		Date Signed		
	Principal's Copy Superintendent's Cop Association's Copy	у	addenda ma Grievance n	provided is insufficient, by be affixed to this report. umber, date, and signature aced on any addenda.	e

LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM: LEVEL III Number\_\_\_\_\_

				Confirmation of Filing Date: Assoc. Pres.
Name of Griev	ant	Date Referred To Mediation		Assoc. Pres Superintendent
Article and Sec Alleged Violatic		_	Date of Alleged Violation	
Statement of G	rievance:			
- Relief Sought:_	4			
Disposition by	Superintendent_			
Signature of Su	perintendent			Date Signed
000	Superintendent Superintendent Association's C	's Copy		If any space provided is insufficient, addenda may be affixed to this report. Grievance number, date, and signature should be placed on any addenda.

LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM: LEVEL IV Number\_

Name of Grievant	Date Referred		Confirmation of Filing Date: Assoc. Pres. Superintendent
Article and Section of Alleged Violation	To Arbitration	Date of Alleged Violation	Treasurer
Statement of Grievance:			
Relief Sought:			
Signature of Grievant(s)			
Date Signed			

Principal's Copy
 Superintendent's Copy
 Association's Copy

If any space provided is insufficient, addenda may be affixed to this report. Grievance number, date, and signature should be placed on any addenda.

# APPENDIX A

# LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOLS EVALUATION PROCEDURE REFERENCE TOOL 2015-2016

Section1: Application Section 2: Definitions Section 3: Evaluators Section 4: Training Section 5: Evalutation Process and Criteria Section 6: Improvement Plan Section 7: Instructional Coach for Teachers on an Improvement Plan Section 8: Professional Development Section 9: Finalization of Report Section 10: Due Process Section 11: Personnel Action Requirements Section 12: Student Growth Measure (SGM) Committee

# 1. APPLICATION

- A. The teacher evaluation procedure contained in this agreement applies to the following employees of the District:
  - 1. Teachers working under a license issued under sections 3319.22, 3319.26, 3319.222 or 3319.226 of the Ohio Revised Code who spend at least fifty (50) percent of their time providing student instruction.
  - 2. Teachers working under a permanent certificate issued under section 3319.222 of the Ohio Revised Code as it existed prior to September 2003 who spend at least fifty (50) percent of their time providing student instruction.
  - 3. Teachers working under a permanent certificate issued under section 3319.222 of the Ohio Revised Code as it existed prior to September 2006 who spend at least fifty (50) percent of their time providing student instruction.
  - Teachers working under a permit issued under 3319.301 of the Ohio Revised Code who spend at least fifty (50) percent of their time providing student instruction.
  - 5. All other teachers not covered by 1-4 above will be evaluated using the Verification of Observation Form to document that the observation was conducted. Continued dialogue and conversations will be revisited as new state guidelines are made available

# 2. DEFINITIONS

- A. Ohio Teacher Evaluation System (OTES): The teacher evaluation system that is codified under sections 3319.111 and 3319.112 of the Ohio Revised Code.
- B. Evaluation Framework: The document created and approved by the Ohio State Standards Board in accordance with section 3319.111(A) of the Ohio Revised Code that establishes the standards-based framework for the evaluation of teachers developed under section 3319.112 of the Ohio Revised Code.
- C. <u>Evaluation Procedure:</u> The evaluation procedure will be the procedural requirements set forth in this agreement to provide specificity to the statutory obligations established under sections 3319.111 and 3319.112 of the Ohio Revised Code and to conform to the framework for the evaluation of teachers developed under section 3319.112 of the Ohio Revised Code.
- D. Evaluation Factors: The two factors, which are required by law and weighted equally, are student growth measures at fifty (50) percent and teacher performance at fifty (50) percent. These factors are subject to change based on legislation, negotiations, and ratification.
- E. <u>Teacher Performance:</u> The assessment of a teacher's performance, resulting in a performance rating. As an evaluation factor, the teacher performance dimension is based on direct observations, walkthroughs that are performed by a credentialed evaluator. This can be enhanced by a teacher evaluation portfolio if the teacher so chooses. Teacher performance results are reported as a teacher performance rating that may be coded from "1" indicating lowest performance to "4" indicating highest performance.

- F. <u>Student Growth Measure (SGM):</u> A tool or assessment that is used to measure, or determine, student academic growth. As an evaluation factor, the SGM dimension is based on value-added scores, assessments from ODE's list of assessments for teachers where value-added scores are not available, and/or from local measures of student growth based on student learning objectives (SLOs) or other student growth measures. SGM results are reported as: most effective, above average, average, approaching average, and below average.
- G. Evaluation Rating: The final, summative evaluation level that is assigned to a teacher based on evaluations that are conducted pursuant to the terms of this agreement. The evaluation rating is assigned at the conclusion of the evaluation cycle when the teacher performance rating is combined with the results of student growth measures where fifty (50) percent of the evaluation rating is based on student growth measures as provided for in this agreement and fifty (50) percent of the evaluation rating is based on a teacher performance rating as provided for in this agreement. Each completed evaluation will result in the assignment of a teacher to one of the following evaluation ratings: Accomplished, Skilled, Developing or Ineffective.
- H. Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool: The process and forms used by the teacher's evaluator. The evaluation tools are located in the Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool which is attached to this agreement.
- <u>Student Learning Objective (SLO)</u>: A measurable, long-term academic growth target that a teacher sets for all students or for subgroups of students over a given interval of instruction based upon baseline data gathered at the beginning of the course.
- J. <u>Ohio Teacher and Principal Evaluation Systems (eTPES)</u>: The method used by the District to electronically report to ODE aggregate final, summative teacher evaluation ratings. The District shall report the number of teachers for whom an evaluation was conducted and the number of teachers assigned to each evaluation rating.
- K. <u>Poorly Performing Teacher:</u> 1) A teacher who is assigned an evaluation rating of ineffective for three (3) consecutive years so long as the teacher has been in the same position for those 3 years.
- L. Teacher(s) of Record:
  - 1. Is/Are responsible for assigning the grade to the student
  - 2. Is/Are required to have the proper credentials to teach the particular subject for which he/she has been designated "teacher(s)of record(s)"
  - 3. Is/Are responsible for a significant portion of a student's instructional time within a given subject or course:
    - a. Minimum of 51% co-teaching;
    - b. Minimum of 31% team teaching (classroom teacher(s));
    - c. Minimum of 31% interventionist(s) (example: Title One and special education)
- M. <u>Linkage</u>: The process of connecting the teacher (s) of record [based upon above definition] to a student's and/or defined group of students' achievement scores.
- N. <u>Shared Attribution</u>: The practice, determined by teachers, of sharing student(s) achievement scores amongst a collaborative group of appropriately licensed educators who consistently meet, plan and provide instruction and/or intervention for a student or defined group of students on a specific subject and/or grade level.

O. <u>Walkthroughs</u>- Will be utilized for OTES teachers. The walkthroughs shall be documented through the OTES/Evaluation Committee designed walk through tool (Appendix C). There will be a minimum of two (2) but no more than ten (10) documented walkthroughs for OTES teachers. The administrator will provide the member with feedback no later than seven (7) work days after the walk through. Nothing herein should be construed to prohibit administration from informally observing teachers.

# 3. EVALUATORS

- A. The positions considered for evaluating teachers will include the Building Principals and Pupil Personal Director.
- B. The evaluator shall not be a bargaining unit member. The supervisor must be employed under a full-time contract pursuant to sections 3319.01 or 3319.02 of the Ohio Revised Code and must hold at least one (1) certificate/license named under division (E), (F), (H), (J), or (L) of section 3319.22 of the Ohio Revised Code and must be credentialed as stated in Ohio law.
- C. In the event an employee performs work under the supervision of more than one credentialed principal, one principal shall be designated as the credentialed evaluator and shall be designated within 10 days following the beginning of the school year.
- D. All teachers will be notified of their credentialed evaluator within the first ten (10) work days of that school year. In the event a teacher is hired after this time, the credentialed evaluator will be determined and the teacher will be informed within ten (10) work days of their start date.
- E. In assessing a teacher's performance, evaluators will not make judgments, or otherwise discriminate, on the basis of a teacher's age, gender identification, race, ethnicity, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, marital status, military status, disability, union membership or union activism.
- F. Each evaluator must successfully complete state-mandated evaluator credentialing training and is required to pass a credentialing assessment as well as use only the tools and forms included in this agreement during the evaluation process.

# 4. TRAINING

- A. Written instruction and training on the teacher evaluation procedure will be provided annually for all teachers and shall include the tools, processes, methodology, and use of the student growth measure data.
- B. Updates to written instruction and evaluation procedures on the purpose, mechanics and dimensions of the evaluation procedure shall be presented to the teachers not later than September 15 of each year, or in the case of a teacher hired after September 15 they will receive this within 30 days of employment with the District. Any updates to the evaluation procedure will be brought to the committee's attention, and upon achieving consensus, to be ratified by the LCCTA and the School Board.

# 5. EVALUTION PROCESS AND CRITERIA

- A. Teacher Performance shall consist of 50% of the evaluation rating. The current OTES rubric (Appendix B) will be used to determine teacher performance.
- B. Student Growth Measures shall consist of 50% of the evaluation rating (subject to legislative and negotiated changes). Teachers will determine his/her own SGM or group SGM other than value-added including, but not limited to, type and duration (SLO and/or per-post testing if applicable) and submit the SGM to the SGM committee for approval as detailed in this negotiated agreement.
- C. Each administrator will prepare a master schedule that details the weeks available for which teachers can sign up for first formal observation. This calendar will be made available within the first week of school. Teachers must sign up by September 15, or a time will be assigned to them.

Each administrator will prepare a master schedule that details the weeks available for which teachers can sign up for second formal observation. This calendar will be made available within the first week of January. Teachers must sign up by January 15, or a time will be assigned to them.

Changes to this master list shall be communicated to the affected teacher within three (3) days of such changes. There shall be no less than 25 working days between each observation.

- D. All formal observations of the work performance of a teacher shall be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the affected teacher. The use of eavesdropping, public address, audio systems, and similar surveillance devices will not be used to observe the work performance of a teacher.
- E. Pre-observation conferences may be held at least one (1) work day before each formal observation. Any additional pre-observation conferences may be by mutual agreement. A post observation conference may be held within ten (10) work days after each formal observation unless mutually waived by the administrator and teacher. A post observation form may be provided to the teacher within ten (10) work days of the post observation conference. If a teacher requests a Pre or Post Conference it shall be held.
- F. All formal observations shall follow within five (5) school days of the pre-conference.
- G. The credentialed evaluating administrator will perform two (2) observations for a formal OTES evaluation and use the forms located in Appendix B to complete the observation, except for the following situations:
  - Teachers who received an "Ineffective" or "Developing" rating on their last formal OTES evaluation and may be-under consideration for non-renewal, and with whom the board has entered into a limited contract or extended limited contract, shall be observed at least three (3) times per evaluation. Being at the end of a limited or extended limited contract is not a reason in and of itself to be evaluated under this section. The Association shall be told the names of the teachers under consideration for non-renewal within three (3) days of the beginning of each semester.
  - For teachers who were rated "Skilled" on their most recent formal evaluation who choose to be evaluated once every other year (as long as your yearly SGM stays at an average or above).
  - 3. For teachers who were rated "Accomplished" on their most recent formal evaluation who choose to be evaluated once every three (3) years (as long as your yearly SGM stays at an average or above).

4. For any year that a teacher is exempt (rated "Skilled" or "Accomplished") he/she shall be informally observed once by his/her evaluator and a post-conference will be held. The only evaluation documentation that shall be used will be the informal Observation Form to document that the observation was conducted. (Appendix G)

For any year that a teacher is exempted (rated "Skilled" or "Accomplished") because of their formal OTES observation rating, he/she shall be informally observed once by his/her evaluator and a post-conference will be held within ten (10) teacher work days of the evaluation. In such cases the informal observation form (OTES Rubric) will act as the only documentation of the completed informal evaluation cycle. If a deficiency(s) are identified during the observation, the evaluator will provide the teacher with a prescription for growth. The teacher and evaluator will then continue a dialogue in addressing said deficiency(s).

This informal process is designed to improve teacher performance. No forms, observation notes, or other documentation used in the informal process shall be placed in the permanent file of any teacher or used to determine formal OTES evaluation ratings, teaching assignments or working conditions for any member of the Association.

- H. Each observation shall be no less than 30 minutes each in length to support the written evaluation. The observations shall be a minimum of 25 working days apart, unless mutually agreed upon by both the teacher and evaluator.
- A teacher may request a formal observation from any credentialed evaluating administrator at any time in addition to those required by this procedure.
- J. Observations shall be conducted only on a day when normal classroom procedures can be expected-not on the day before or after a vacation or the day after an illness.
- K. Formal observations shall not disrupt and/or interrupt the learning environment in the classroom.
- L. Within ten (10) working days of the observation, a post-observation in-person conference may take place between the teacher and the credentialed evaluating administrator at which time the administrator will review the observation and discuss the evaluation rubric. The administrator will provide the teacher with a written copy of the teacher's rubric scores based on the observation.
- M. The teacher shall have the right to provide additional evidence to supplement the observation.
- N. In the event that any deficiencies are documented, the credentialed evaluating administrator will provide written recommendations to correct such deficiencies. This is not to be considered an improvement plan. These written recommendations shall include suggestions for improvement(s) to correct such deficiencies.
- O. If after a second formal observation, a teacher's performance is found deficient to the extent that adverse personnel action may result, a minimum of one additional observation shall be conducted at least 25 working days after the previous observation, or by April 15<sup>th</sup>.
- P. A teacher evidencing thirty (30) days or more of excused absences as defined in the negotiated agreement will have their SGM scores for that year reviewed by the SGM committee on a case by case basis.

- Q. The written summative evaluation is to be given to the teacher by May 10th. Teachers will be provided the evaluation report that is located in Appendix D and have a conference with their credentialed evaluating administrator to discuss said report.
- R. Any educator that makes below expected academic growth with his/her students and/or receives an overall ineffective rating on the Teacher Performance Component must develop a written improvement plan as detailed in this Evaluation Procedure Reference Tool. This improvement plan shall carry over into the next school year.

#### 6. IMPROVEMENT PLAN

- A. The improvement plan form located in Appendix E shall be used for said teachers and shall be developed by the teacher and the credentialed evaluating administrator.
- B. Final determination of an improvement plan shall occur one year from the date that it was implemented.
- C. In the event that a teacher and evaluator are unable to agree on the evaluator's expectations for the improvement plan, the teacher may request the teacher's instructional coach or another mutually agreed upon teacher of the District to facilitate further discussion between the teacher and the evaluator.

#### 7. INSTRUCTIONAL COACH FOR TEACHERS ON IMPROVEMENT PLANS

- A. The District shall provide teachers under an improvement plan with an instructional coach who is not the credentialed evaluator.
- B. Role of the Instructional Coach:
  - 1. The instructional coach does not have a formal evaluation role. The instructional coach's role is to support the growth of the educator.
  - 2. Every effort will be made to match up the teacher on the improvement plan with a coach that has the expertise in the identified area of needed improvement, has a valid teaching license, and is currently under contract with Liberty Center Local Schools.
- C. Release time- Each individual coach shall be granted release time for direct mentoring activities. Release time shall be separate from any other release time covered under this agreement and shall be coordinated by the building administrator upon approval by the Superintendent.
- D. Protections
  - Other than a notation to the effect that a teacher served as instructional coach the teacher's activities as an instructional coach shall not be part of that staff member's evaluation.
  - 2. An instructional coach shall not be requested or directed to make any recommendation regarding the continued employment of the teacher.
  - 3. All information and interaction between the instructional coach and the teacher shall be regarded as confidential and neither party shall be requested or directed to divulge such information.

4. At any time, the instructional coach or the teacher may exercise the option to have a new instructional coach assigned to the teacher. Said change shall occur without prejudice or judgment to either party. No specifics shall be given for the exercise of this option. The form in Appendix F shall be filled out by the party exercising this option.

## 8. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

A. The Board shall provide for professional development and for the allocation of financial resources to accelerate and continue teacher growth and improvement and to provide support to poorly performing teachers as set forth in this agreement.

#### 9. FINALIZATION OF REPORT

- A. The evaluation shall acknowledge the performance strengths of the teacher evaluated as well as performance deficiencies, if any. The evaluator shall note all the data used to support the conclusions reached in the formal evaluation report.
- B. The completed evaluation report shall be signed by the evaluator. The evaluation report will be presented to the teacher for signing as notification that said report, and only this report, will be placed in the personnel file.
- C. The teacher's signature cannot be construed as evidence that the teacher agrees with the contents of the evaluation report.
- D. The evaluation report shall be completed by May 10, signed by both parties, and sent to the Superintendent.
- E. The Board will provide ODE with the aggregate final, summative teacher evaluation ratings by way of eTPES. No other documents will be uploaded to the system. The Board shall report the number of teachers for whom an evaluation was conducted and the number of teachers assigned to each evaluation rating by the Institution of graduation and the year of graduation only.
- F. The teacher shall have the right to make a written response to the evaluation and have it attached to the evaluation report to be placed in the teacher's personnel file. A copy, signed by both parties, shall be provided to the teacher.

#### 10. DUE PROCESS

- A. A teacher shall be entitled to Union representation at any conference held during this procedure in which the teacher will be advised of an impending adverse personnel action.
- B. Teachers who disagree with the rating of performance and/or the summative, or overall, evaluation rating may be allowed to have a different credentialed evaluating administrator the next school year.

#### 11. PERSONNEL ACTION REQUIREMENTS

A. The evaluation procedure contained in this agreement shall not be used in any decision concerning the retention, promotion, removal, reduction or recall of any teacher until three (3) years of data have been collected.

- B. An evaluation cycle shall not be completed until the teacher has been provided a written report of the results of the evaluation.
- C. In the event there is a significant (more than one class period) change in the teacher's assignment initiated by the district or an involuntary transfer, the teacher will be assigned the minimum rating of "skilled" following the year of transfer or change.

# 12. STUDENT GROWTH MEASURE (SGM) COMMITTEE

- A. An SGM committee will be developed for the sole purpose of assessing and reviewing the many facets of SGM and providing professional development in the area of SGM. The SGM committee shall not have the authority to negotiate wages, hours or terms and conditions of employment.
- B. The SGM committee is responsible to jointly recommend the policies and procedures for the Student Growth portion of the Evaluation Procedures.
- C. The committee shall consist of the seven (7) members. Five (5) members appointed by the Association, and two (2) administrators appointed by the Superintendent. One association member and one administrator will co-chair the committee. The number of SGM Committee Building Representatives will match the number of buildings in the district.
- D. Committee agendas will be developed jointly by the co-chairpersons of the committee.
- E. The term of the office for Association committee members will be determined by the Association.
- F. At the time that an Association or District committee member is no longer able to serve on the committee, the respective party, will select a new member to the committee.
- G. Members of the committee will receive training in the writing of SLOs including, but not limited to, SGM trainings with ODE trained trainers and any other trainings that become necessary for the committee.
- H. The committee will establish, by mutual agreement, a meeting calendar.
- The committee shall establish ground rules and duties for all committee members at the initial meeting, review them at each meeting, and update them thereafter as needed.
- J. All decisions of the committee will be achieved by a simple majority.
- K. The committee shall be authorized to utilize consultant(s) (examples are, but not limited to; educational consultants, software consultants, SGM trainers, etc.) as deemed appropriate. The cost, if any, shall be approved by the Superintendent and borne by the Board.
- L. Members of the committee shall receive release time for committee work and training as deemed necessary by the committee.
- M. The district will provide secretarial support and assistance to the committee. Responsibilities may include data entry, note taking, copying, committee notification, communications, and distribution of materials, preparation of forms/templates, and other duties as needed.

- N. The committee will review the multiple elements of SGM, using the approved established guidelines and return them to appropriate parties either for use for gathering data or for revision and resubmission to the committee.
- O. The committee will develop a timeline by which teachers will turn in SGM and the timeframe the committee will return said SGM.
- P. In the case that the committee returns an element of SGM for revision, feedback will be supplied to the individual or group as to what should be reviewed for revision prior to resubmission. A timeline will be developed for revisions and resubmission.
- Q. Prior to submitting the SGM results to his/her evaluator, the teacher may request the SGM Committee review their score for accuracy. The SGM Committee will review for verification only.
- R. The committee shall determine those conditions that would likely have an adverse impact on SGMs, such as a threshold number of authorized teacher absences, the acceptance and mentoring of student teachers, changes in teacher assignments, implementation of the Common Core State Standards, etc. The committee shall perform this task over the term of this agreement and shall make recommendations to inform future contract negotiations.
- S. Association committee members will be paid at a rate of \$25 for each hour he/she attends committee meetings outside of the contractual work day.
- T. Association committee co-chair will be paid a supplemental rate of \$1,000. SGM Committee Building Representatives will be paid a supplemental rate of \$500. General committee members will be paid a supplemental rate of \$250.

APPENDIX B

Ohio Teach Evaluation S Liberty Cen Schools	System	Assessment of Teacher Performance	Teacher:	
School year:	Building	3:	Grade Level/Subject:	

#### **Teacher Performance Evaluation Rubric**

The **Teacher Performance Evaluation Rubric** is intended to be scored holistically. This means that evaluators will assess which level provides the best *overall* description of the teacher. The scoring process is expected to occur upon completion of each thirty (30) minute observation and post-conference. The evaluator is to consider evidence gathered during the pre-observation conference, the observation, the post-observation conference, and classroom walkthroughs (if applicable). When completing the performance rubric, please note that evaluators are not expected to gather evidence on all indicators for each observation cycle. Likewise, teachers should not be required to submit additional pieces of evidence to address all indicators. The professionalism section of the rubric may use evidence collected during the pre-observation and post-observation conferences as well as information from the Professional Growth and/or Improvement Plan (if applicable).

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
INSTRUCTIONAL PLANNING	FOCUS FOR LEARNING (Standard 4: Instruction) Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference	The teacher does not demonstrate a clear focus for student learning. Learning objectives are too general to guide lesson planning and are inappropriate for the students, and/or do not reference the Ohio standards.	The teacher communicates a focus for student learning, develops learning objectives that are appropriate for students and reference the Ohio standards but do not include measureable goals.	The teacher demonstrates a focus for student learning, with appropriate learning objectives that include measurable goal(s) for student learning aligned with the Ohio standards. The teacher demonstrates the importance of the goal and its appropriateness for students.	The teacher establishes challenging and measurable goal(s) for student learning that aligns with the Ohio standards and reflect a range of student learner needs. The teacher demonstrates how the goal(s) fit into the broader unit, course, and school goals for content learning and skills.
	Evidence				

ASSESSMENT DATA (Standard 3: Assessment)	The teacher does not plan for the assessment of student learning or does not analyze student learning data to Inform lesson plans.	The teacher explains the characteristics, uses, and limitations of various diagnostic, formative, and summative assessments but does not consistently incorporate this knowledge into lesson planning.	The teacher demonstrates an understanding that assessment is a means of evaluating and supporting student learning through effectively incorporating diagnostic, formative, and/or summative assessments into lesson planning.	The teacher purposefully plans assessments and differentiates assessment choices to match the full range of student needs, abilities, and learning styles, incorporating a range of appropriate diagnostic, formative, and summative assessments into lesson plans.
Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference	The teacher does not use or only uses one measure of student performance.	The teacher uses more than one measure of student performance but does not appropriately vary assessment approaches, or the teacher may have difficulty analyzing data to effectively inform instructional planning and delivery.	The teacher employs a variety of formal and informal assessment techniques to collect evidence of students' knowledge and skills and analyzes data to effectively inform instructional planning and delivery.	Student learning needs are accurately identified through an analysis of student data; the teacher uses assessment data to identify student strengths and areas for student growth.
Evidence				

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
PLANNING	PRIOR CONTENT KNOWLEDGE / SEQUENCE / CONNECTIONS (Standard 1: Students; Standard 2: Content; Standard 4: Instruction)	The teacher's lesson does not build on or connect to students' prior knowledge, or the teacher may give an explanation that is illogical or inaccurate as to how the content connects to previous and future learning.	The teacher makes an attempt to connect the lesson to students' prior knowledge, to previous lessons or future learning but is not completely successful.	The teacher makes clear and coherent connections with students' prior knowledge and future learning—both explicitly to students and within the lesson. The teacher plans and sequences	The teacher uses the input and contributions of families, colleagues, and other professionals in understanding each learner's prior knowledge and supporting their development. The teacher makes meaningful and relevant connections between lesson content and other disciplines and real-world experiences and careers as well as prepares opportunities for students to apply learning from different content areas to solve problems. The teacher plans and sequences
INSTRUCTIONAL PL	Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference			instruction to include the important content, concepts, and processes in school and district curriculum priorities and in state standards.	instruction that reflects an understanding of the prerequisite relationships among the important content, concepts, and processes in school and district curriculum priorities and in state standards as well as multiple pathways for learning depending on student needs. The teacher accurately explains how the lesson fits within the structure of the discipline.
	Evidence				

INST	RUCTIONAL PLANNING				
	KNOWLEDGE OF STUDENTS	The teacher demonstrates a lack of familiarity with students' backgrounds and has made no attempts to find this information.	The teacher demonstrates some familiarity with students' background knowledge and experiences and describes one procedure used to obtain this information.	The teacher demonstrates familiarity with students' background knowledge and experiences and descrities multiple procedures used to obtain this information.	The teacher demonstrates an understanding of the purpose and value of learning about students' background experiences, demonstrates familiarity with each student's background knowledge and experiences, and describes multiple procedures used to obtain this information.
INSTRUCTIONAL PLANNING	(Standard 1: Students) Sources of Evidence: Analysis of Student Data Pre-Conference	The teacher's plan for instruction does not demonstrate an understanding of students' development, preferred learning styles, and/or student backgrounds/prior experiences.	The teacher's instructional plan draws upon a partial analysis of students' development, readiness for learning, preferred learning styles, or backgrounds and prior experiences and/or the plan is inappropriately tallored to the specific population of students in the classroom.	The teacher's instructional plan draws upon an accurate analysis of the students' development, readiness: for learning, preferred learning styles, and backgrounds and prior experiences.	The teacher's analysis of student data (student development, student learning and preferred learning styles, and student backgrounds/prior experiences) accurately connects the data to specific instructional strategles and plans. The teacher plans for and can articulate specific strategies, content, and delivery that will meet the needs of individual students and groups of students.
INSTRU	Evidence				

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
LESSON D (Standard 2 Standard 4: 1 Standard 6: Co and Commu	: Content; Instruction; ollaboration	A teacher's explanations are unclear, incoherent, or inaccurate, and are generally ineffective in building student understanding. The teacher uses language that fails to engage students, is inappropriate to the content, and/or discourages independent or creative thinking.	Teacher explanations are accurate and generally clear but the teacher may not fully clarify information based on students' questions about content or instructions for learning activities or the teacher may use some language that is developmentally inappropriate, leading to confusion or limiting discussion.	Teacher explanations are clear and accurate. The teacher uses developmentally appropriate strategies and language designed to actively encourage independent, creative, and critical thinking.	Teacher explanations are clear, coherent, and precise. The teacher uses well-timed, individualized, developmentally appropriate strategies and language designed to actively encourage independent, creative, and critical thinking, including the appropriate use of questions and discussion techniques.
Sources of Formal Ob Classroom Wa Informal Ob	servation alkthroughs/	The teacher fails to address student confusion or frustration and does not use effective questioning techniques during the lesson. The lesson is almost entirely teacher-directed.	The teacher re-explains topics when students show confusion, but is not always able to provide an effective alternative explanation. The teacher attempts to employ purposeful questioning techniques, but may confuse students with the phrasing or timing of questions. The lesson is primarily teacher-directed.	The teacher effectively addresses confusion by re-explaining topics when asked and ensuring understanding. The teacher employs effective, purposeful questioning techniques during instruction. The lesson is a balance of teacher-directed instruction and student-led learning.	The teacher accurately anticipates confusion by presenting information in multiple formats and clarifying content before students ask questions. The teacher develops high-level understanding through effective uses of varied levels of questions. The lesson is student-led, with the teacher in the role of facilitator.
Evide	ence				
DIFFEREN (Standard 1: Standard 4: I Sources of Pre-Cont Formal Ob Classroom Wa Informal Ob	: Students; Instruction) Evidence: ference iservation alkthroughs/	The teacher does not attempt to make the lesson accessible and challenging for most students, or attempts are developmentally inappropriate.	The teacher relies on a single strategy or alternate set of materials to make the lesson accessible to most students though some students may not be able to access certain parts of the lesson and/or some may not be challenged.	The teacher supports the learning needs of students through a variety of strategies, materials, and/or pacing that make learning accessible and challenging for the group.	The teacher matches strategies, materials, and/or pacing to students' individual needs, to make learning accessible and challenging for all students in the classroom. The teacher effectively uses independent, collaborative and whole- class instruction to support individual learning goals and provides varied options for how students will demonstrate mastery.
Evide	ence				

	Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
RESOURCES (Standard 2: Content; Standard 4: Instruction) Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference Formal Observation Classroom Walkthroughs/ Informal Observations	Instructional materials and resources used for instruction are not relevant to the lesson or are inappropriate for students.	The teacher uses appropriate instructional materials to support learning goals, but may not meet individual students' learning styles/needs or actively engage them in learning.	Instructional materials and resources are aligned to the instructional purposes and are appropriate for students' learning styles and needs, actively engaging students.	Instructional materials and resources are aligned to instructional purposes, are varied and appropriate to ability levels of students, and actively engage them in ownership of their learning.
Evidence				

-

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
		There is little or no evidence of a positive rapport between the teacher and students. For example, the teacher may respond disrespectfully to students or ignore their questions or comments.	The teacher is fair in the treatment of students and establishes a basic rapport with them. For example, the teacher addresses students questions or comments but does not inquire about their overall well-being.	The teacher has positive rapport with students and demonstrates respect for and interest in all students. For example, the teacher makes eye contact and connects with individual students.	The teacher has positive rapport with students and demonstrates respect for and interest in individual students' experiences, thoughts and opinions. For example, the teacher responds quietly, individually, and sensitively to student confusion or distress.
INSTRUCTION AND ASSESSMENT	CLASSROOM ENVIRONMENT (Standard 1: Students;	There are no evident routines or procedures; students seem unclear about what they should be doing or are idle.	Routines and procedures are in place, but the teacher may inappropriately prompt or direct students when they are unclear or idle.	Routines and procedures run smoothly throughout the lesson, and students assume age-appropriate levels of responsibility for the efficient operation of the classroom.	Routines are well-established and orderly and students initiate responsibility for the efficient operation of the classroom.
	Standard 5: Learning Environment; Standard 6: Collaboration and Communication)	Transitions are inefficient with considerable instructional time lost. Lessons progress too slowly or quickly so students are frequently disengaged.	The teacher transitions between learning activities, but occasionally loses some instructional time in the process.	Transitions are efficient and occur smoothly. There is evidence of varied learning situations (whole class, cooperative learning, small group and independent work).	Transitions are seamless as the teacher effectively maximizes instructional time and combines independent, collaborative, and whole-class learning situations.
	Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference Formal Observation Classroom Walkthroughs/ Informal Observations	The teacher creates a learning environment that allows for little or no communication or engagement with families.	The teacher welcomes communication from families and replies in a timely manner.	The teacher engages in two-way communication and offers a variety of volunteer opportunities and activities for families to support student learning.	The teacher engages in two-way, ongoing communication with families that results in active volunteer, community, and family partnerships which contribute to student learning and development.
		Expectations for behavior are not established or are inappropriate and/or no monitoring of behaviors occurs. The teacher responds to misbehavior inappropriately.	Appropriate expectations for behavior are established, but some expectations are unclear or do not address the needs of individual students. The teacher inconsistently monitors behavior.	A classroom management system has been implemented that is appropriate and responsive to classroom and individual needs of students. Clear expectations for student behavior are evident. Monitoring of student behavior is consistent, appropriate, and effective.	A classroom management system has been designed, implemented, and adjusted with student input and is appropriate for the classroom and individual student needs. Students are actively encouraged to take responsibility for their behavior. The teacher uses research-based strategies to lessen disruptive behaviors and reinforce positive behaviors.
	Evidence				

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
		The teacher does not routinely use assessments to measure student mastery.	The teacher uses assessments to measure student mastery, but may not differentiate instruction based on this information.	The teacher uses assessment data to identify students' strengths and needs, and modifies and differentiates instruction accordingly, although the teacher may not be able to anticipate learning obstacles.	The teacher uses assessment data to identify students' strengths and needs, and modifies and differentiates instruction accordingly, as well as examines classroom assessment results to reveal trends and patterns in individual and group progress and to anticipate learning obstacles.
NT	ASSESSMENT OF STUDENT LEARNING (Standard 3: Assessment)	The teacher rarely or never checks the students' understanding of content. The teacher fails to make adjustments in response to student confusion.	The teacher checks for student understanding and makes attempts to adjust instruction accordingly, but these adjustments may cause some additional confusion	The teacher checks for understanding at key moments and makes adjustments to instruction (whole-class or individual students). The teacher responds to student misunderstandings by providing additional clarification.	The teacher continually checks for understanding and makes adjustments accordingly (whole-class or individual students). When an explanation is not effectively leading students to understand the content, the teacher adjusts quickly and seamlessly within the lesson and uses an alternative way to explain the concept.
ON AND ASSESSMENT	Sources of Evidence: Pre-Conference Formal Observation Classroom Walkthroughs/ Informal Observations Post-Conference	The teacher persists in using a particular strategy for responding to misunderstandings, even when data suggest the approach is not succeeding.	The teacher gathers and uses student data from a few sources to choose appropriate instructional strategies for groups of students.	The teacher gathers and uses student data from a variety of sources to choose and implement appropriate instructional strategies for groups of students.	By using student data from a variety of sources, the teacher appropriately adapts instructional methods and materials and paces learning activities to meet the need of individual students as well as the whole class.
INSTRUCTION		The teacher does not provide students with feedback about their learning.	Students receive occasional or limited feedback about their performance from the teacher.	The teacher provides substantive, specific, and timely feedback of student progress to students, families, and other school personnel while maintaining confidentiality.	The teacher provides substantive, specific and timely feedback to students, families, and other school personnel while maintaining confidentiality. The teacher provides the opportunity for students to engage In self-assessment and show awareness of their own strengths and weaknesses. The teacher uses student assessment results to reflect on his or her own teaching and to monitor teaching strategies and behaviors in relation to student success.
	Evidence				

		Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
	PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES (Standard 6: Collaboration and Communication; Standard 7: Professional Responsibility and	The teacher fails to communicate clearly with students and families or collaborate effectively with professional colleagues.	The teacher uses a variety of strategies to communicate with students and families and collaborate with colleagues, but these approaches may not always be appropriate for a particular situation or achieve the intended outcome.	The teacher uses effective communication strategies with students and families and works effectively with colleagues to examine problems of practice, analyze student work, and identify targeted strategies.	The teacher communicates effectively with students, families, and colleagues. The teacher collaborates with colleagues to improve personal and team practices by facilitating professional dialogue, peer observation and feedback, peer coaching and other collegial learning activities.
PROFESSIONALISM	Growth) Sources of Evidence: Professional Development Plan or Improvement Plan;	The teacher fails to understand and follow regulations, policies, and agreements.	The teacher understands and follows district policies and state and federal regulations at a minimal level.	The teacher meets ethical and professional responsibilities with integrity and honesty. The teacher models and upholds district policies and state and federal regulations.	The teacher meets ethical and professional responsibilities and helps colleagues access and interpret laws and policies and understand their implications in the classroom.
	Pre-conference; Post-conference; daily interaction with others	The teacher fails to demonstrate evidence of an ability to accurately self-assess performance and to appropriately identify areas for professional development.	The teacher identifies strengths and areas for growth to develop and implement targeted goals for professional growth.	The teacher sets data-based short- and long-term professional goals and takes action to meet these goals.	The teacher sets and regularly modifies short-and long-term professional goals based on self-assessment and analysis of student learning evidence.
	Evidence				

## Ohio Teacher Evaluation System: Liberty Center Local Schools Classroom Walkthrough

Teacher Name:	Grade(s)/Subject Area(s):	Date:
Evaluator Name:	Time Walkthrough Begins:	Time Walkthrough Ends:

Directions: This form serves as a record of an informal walkthrough by the teacher's evaluator. The evaluator will likely not observe all the teaching elements listed below in any one informal observation. This record, along with records of additional informal observations, will be used to inform the summative evaluation of the teacher.

	LION OBSERVATIONS
O = Observed; Blank = Not Obse	erved; C = Suggestion Comment Made Below
Instruction is developmentally appropriate;	Lesson content is linked to previous and future learning;
Learning outcomes and goals are clearly communicated to students;	Classroom learning environment is safe and conducive to learning;
Varied instructional tools and strategies reflect student needs and learning objectives;	Teacher provides students with timely and responsive feedback;
Content presented is accurate and grade appropriate;	Instructional time is used effectively;
Teac her connects lesson to real-life applications;	Routines support learning goals and activities;
Instruction and lesson activities are accessible and challenging for students;	Multiple methods of assessment of student learning are utilized to guide instruction;
Other:	Other:
annumenderline tos corris of hitorinal Classicistions:	
acommendations for Focus of Informal Observations:	

Ohio Teacher Evaluation System: Liberty Center Local Schools	School Year:	Teacher:	
Final Summative Rating of Teacher E	ffectiveness	Grade Level/Subject:	

Proficiency on Standards 50%	INEFFECTIVE	DEVELOPING	SKILLED	ACCOMPLISHED	
Cumulative Performance Rating (Holistic Rating using Performance Rubric) OBS					
Areas of reinforcement/ refinement: Reinforcement: Refinement:					
Student Growth Data 50%	BELOW EXPECT GROWTH	ED EXPECTED	GROWTH	ABOVE EXPECTED GROWTH NA	
Student Growth Measure of Effectiveness	NA	NA			
Areas of reinforcement/ refinement					
Final Summative (Overall) Rating	INEFFECTIVE	DEVELOPING	SKILLED	ACCOMPLISHED	

Check here if Improvement Plan has been recommended.

Teacher Signature	Date
Evaluator Signature	Date

The signatures above indicate that the teacher and evaluator have discussed the Summative Rating.

Note: The teacher may provide additional information to the evaluator within 10 working days of the receipt of this form, and may request a second conference with the evaluator. Any additional information will become part of the summative record. Challenges may be made according to the local contract agreement.

Ohio Teacher Evaluat	tion System	Improvement Plan
Improvement Pla	an	
Teacher Name:		Grade Level/ Subject:
School year:	Building:	Date of Improvement Plan Conference:

Written improvement plans are to be developed in the circumstances when an educator has a final summative rating of ineffective. However, districts have discretion to place a teacher on an improvement plan at any time based on deficiencies in any individual component of the evaluation system. The purpose of the improvement plan is to identify specific deficiencies in performance and foster growth through professional development and targeted support. If corrective actions are not made within the time as specified in the improvement plan, a recommendation may be made for dismissal or to continue on the plan.

Section 1: Improvement Statement - List specific areas for improvement as related to the Ohio Standards for the Teaching Profession. Attach documentation.

Performance Standard(s) Addressed in this Plan	Date(s) Improvement Area or Concern Observed	Specific Statement of the Concern. Areas of Improvement

Section 2: Desired Level of Performance -- List specific measurable goals to improve performance. Indicate what will be measured for each goal.

Beginning Date	Ending Date	Level of Performance Specifically Describe Successful Improvement Target(s)

# Improvement Plan (continued)

#### Section 3: Specific Plan of Action

Describe in detail specific plans of action that must be taken by the teacher to improve his/her performance. Indicate the sources of evidence that will be used to document the completion of the improvement plan.

Actions to be Taken	Sources of Evidence that Will Be Examined

#### Section 4: Assistance and Professional Development

Describe in detail specific supports that will be provided as well as opportunities for professional development.

Date for this Improvement Plan to Be Evaluated:

Teacher's Signature: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Evaluator's Signature: \_\_\_\_\_Date: \_\_\_\_\_

The evaluator's signature on this form verifies that the proper procedures as detailed in the local contract have been followed.

hio Teacher Evaluation System		Improvement Plan
improvement P	lan: Evaluation of Plan	
Feacher Name:		Grade Level/ Subject:
School year:	Building:	Date of Evaluation:
The improvement plan wi raken;	II be evaluated at the end of the time specified in	the plan. Outcomes from the improvement plan demonstrate the following action to be
	ment is demonstrated and performance standard	s are met to a satisfactory level of performance*
The Imp	rovement Plan should continue for time specified:	
Dismissa	l is recommended.	
comments: Provide Justif	cation for recommendation indicated above and	attach evidence to support recommended course of action.

Evaluator's Signature: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_ The evaluator's signature on this form verifies that the proper procedures as detailed in the local contract have been followed.

\*The acceptable level of performance varies depending on the teacher's years of experience. Teachers in residency—specifically in Years 1 through 4—are expected to perform at the Developing level or above. Experienced teachers—with five or more years of experience—are expected to meet the Skilled level or above.

Appendix F

## Instructional Coach/Teacher Change Form

Teacher	Date
-	_ I am requesting a different instructional coach.
_	_ I am requesting to be released from my instructional coach position with the following teacher ).
ignature	Date

APPENDIX G

### OHIO TEACHER EVALUATION SYSTEM: LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOLS INFORMAL OBSERVATION FORM

Teacher Name:	Grade(s)/Subject Area(s):	Date:
Evaluator Name:	Time Observation Begins:	Time Observation Ends:
eaching elements described below in a conference, will be used to inform the su	d of an informal observation (off-cycle) by the teacher's even ny one informal observation. This record, along with infor ummative evaluation of the teacher. Those elements observed THE BLANK INDICATES OBSERVED ELEMENTS DURIN	mation included in the pre-conference and/or post- erved during this informal observation will be discussed in
	INFORMAL OBSERVATIONS	
1Instruction is developmentally a	appropriate:	
2Learning outcomes and goals a	re clearly communicated to students:	
<ol> <li>Varied Instruction tools and stra</li> </ol>	ategies reflect student needs and learning objectives:	
4 Content presented is accurate	and grade appropriate:	
5Teacher connects lesson to rea	I-life applications:	

6. Instruction and lesson activities are accessible and challenging for students:

7. Lesson content is linked to previous and future learning:

8. Classroom learning environment is safe and conductve to learning:

9. Teacher provides students with timely and responsive feedback:

10 Instructional time is used effectively:

11. Routines support learning goals and activities:

12. Multiple methods of assessment of student learning are utilized to guide instruction:

SUMMARY COMMENTS OF EVALUATOR:

# RECOMMENDATION(S) FOR PROFESSIONAL GROWTH:

## **Ohio School Counselor Evaluation System**

Assessment of School Counselor Performance

## **School Counselor Evaluation Rubric**

The School Counselor Evaluation Rubric is intended to be scored holistically. This means the evaluator will assess which level provides the best overall description of the school counselor. The evaluator is to consider evidence gathered during the pre-observation conference, the observation, the post-observation conference, and informal observations of school counselor activities (if applicable) when completing the rubric.

	Ineffective The school counselor	Developing The school counselor	Skilled The school counselor	Accomplished
	cannot articulate components of a comprehensive school counseling program.	articulates all components of a comprehensive school counseling program.	articulates all components of a comprehensive school counseling program, reflects on future program needs and works to design a plan of implementation.	The school counselor implements al components of a comprehensive school counseling program and frequently reflects on future program development.
	The school counselor does not collaborate with key stakeholders to set the goals, priorities and implementation strategies when a comprehensive school counseling program is being designed.	The school counselor collaborates with key stakeholders on a limited basis to set goals, priorities and implementation strategies that partially align to the school's goals and mission when a comprehensive school counseling program is being designed.	The school counselor collaborates with key stakeholders to set the goals, priorities and implementation strategies that align to the school's goals and mission when a comprehensive school counseling program is being designed.	The school counselor collaborates with key stakeholders to set the goals, priorities and implementation strategies that align to the school's goals and mission when a comprehensive school counseling program is being designed and suggests enhancements and adjustments for program based on needs and results.
	The school counselor identifies no resources to implement the program.	The school counselor identifies resources needed to partially implement the program.	The school counselor identifies resources to fully implement the program.	The school counselor utilizes resources to fully implement the program from an innovative or diverse set of partners.
vidence			1	

05/18/2016

Standiard Two: Direct Services for Academic, Career and Social/Emotional Development - School counselors develop a curriculum, offer Individual student planning and deliver responsive services to assist students in developing and applying knowledge, skills and mindsets for academic, career and acciel/graphonal development.

Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
The school counselor lacks knowledge of academic program and/or does not deliver counseling, activities, and/or experiences that support students' academic progress and goals.	The school counselor uses knowledge of the academic program to plan and deliver counseling, activities and/or experiences that support students' academic progress and goals.	The school counselor plans and delivers effective comprehensive counseling, activities and/or experiences to support students' academic progress and goals and makes adjustments as needed.	The school counselor plans and delivers effective comprehensive counseling, activities and/or experiences in collaboration with stakeholders to support students' academic progress and goals and makes adjustments as needed.
The school counselor does not deliver developmentally appropriate counseling, activities, and/or experiences that build students' awareness of Ohio-specific college, career and education options and resources.	The school counselor inconsistently or ineffectively provides developmentally appropriate counseling, activities and/or expariences that build students' awareness of Ohio-specific college, career and education options and resources.	The school counselor plans and delivers effective comprehensive counseling, activities and/or experiences to support students' awareness of Ohio-specific college, carser and education options and resources and makes adjustments as needed.	The school counselor plans and delivers effective comprehensive counseling, activities and/or experiences to enhance students' and parents/guardians' awareness of Ohio-specific college, career and education options and resources and makes adjustments as needed.
The school counselor does not deliver counseling, activities and/or experiences that promote student well- being.	The school counselor attempts to deliver counseling, activities and/or experiences that promote student well-being with limited success.	The school counselor consistently delivers counseling, activities, and/or experiences that promote students' social/emotional development and well-being.	The school counselor plans and delivers effective comprehensive counseling, activities and/or experiences in collaboration with stakeholders to promote students' social-emotional development and well-being and makes adjustments as needed.

Ineffective The school counselor provides no information to parents/guardians and school personnel for students' academic, career and social-emotional development.	Developing The school counselor provides relevant information upon request to parents/guardians and school personnel for students' academic, career and social-emotional development.	Skilled The school counselor provides relevant information on a regular basis through collaboration with parents/guardians and school personnel for students' academic, career and social- emotional development.	Accomplished The school counselor provides relevant information on a regular basis and initiates collaboration with parents/guardians and school personnel for students' academic, career and social-emotional development.
The school counselor does not coordinate school and community resources to support students and promote their success.	The school counselor attempts to coordinate school and community resources to support students and promote their success, but has limited success.	The school counselor coordinates school and community resources to support students and promote their success.	The school counselor coordinates school and community resources, and positively influences the types of services the partners provide to support students and promote their success.
The school counselor does not make referrals on behalf of students to parents/guardians or school personnel to appropriate mentors, professionals, agencies and services.	The school counselor makes referrals and connections on behalf of students to parents/guardians or school personnel to appropriate mentors, professionals, agencies and services only upon request.	The school counselor makes referrals and connections on behalf of students to parents/guardians or school personnel to appropriate mentors, professionals, agencies and services.	The school counselor makes referrals and connections on behalt of students to parents/guardians or school personnel to appropriate mentors, professionals, agencies and services and follows up within the guidelines of confidentiality when appropriate.

	Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
	The school counselor does not monitor student performance and progress.	The school counselor does limited monitoring of individual and group student performance and progress data to identify gaps and develops some appropriate interventions to enhance or improve student success.	The school counselor monitors individual and group student performance and progress data to identify gaps and develops appropriate interventions to enhance or improve student success.	The achool counselor monitors individual and group student performance and progress data to identify gaps and develops appropriate interventions to enhance or improve student success, and fosters student self-monitoring.
	The school counselor does not monitor effectiveness of the program.	The school counselor uses some data with minimal effectiveness to conduct program monitoring, assesses implementation and effectiveness, and makes adjustments for program improvement accordingly.	The school counselor effectively uses data to conduct program monitoring, assesses implementation and effectiveness, and makes adjustments for program improvement accordingly.	The school counselor uses comprehensive data to conduct regular program monitoring, assesses implementation and effectiveness, and collaborates with stakeholders to make adjustments for program improvement accordingly.
Evidence				T

Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
The school counselor does not attempt to establish professional relationships within the school through communication, teamwork and collaboration.	The school counselor attempts to establish professional relationships within the school through communication, teamwork and collaboration with limited success.	The school counselor establishes and maintains professional relationships within and outside of the school through communication, teamwork and collaboration.	The school counselor establishes and strengthens strategic professional relationships within and outside of the school through communication, teamwork and collaboration.
The school counselor does not advocate for nor responds to the needs of diverse populations.	The school counselor attempts to respond to the needs of diverse populations and has demonstrated progress in promoting an inclusive, responsive and safe school environment for its diverse members.	The school counselor effectively advocates for and responds to the needs of diverse populations, resulting in a positive impact on practices that promotes an inclusive, responsive and safe school environment for its diverse members.	The school counselor effectively advocates for practices within and outside of the school community and proactively addresses the changing needs of diverse populations resulting in a positive impact that promotes an inclusive, responsive and safe school environment for its diverse members.
The school counselor is unable to identify community, environmental and institutional factors that enhance or impede development and does not advocate for equity of opportunity for all students.	The school counselor identifies community, environmental and institutional factors that enhance or impede development but does not advocate for equity of opportunity for all students.	The school counselor identifies community, environmental and institutional factors that enhance or impede development and advocates for equity of opportunity for all students.	The school counselor identifies community, environmental and institutional factors that enhance or impede development and collaborates with stakeholders to advocate for programs, policies and practices that ensure equity of opportunity for all students.
The school counselor does not promote the program or the role of the school counselor in achieving the school's mission and student success.	The school counselor occasionally promotes the program and is beginning to articulate the role of the school counselor in achieving the school's mission and student success.	The school counselor effectively and consistently promotes the program and articulates the role of the school counselor in achieving the school's mission and student success.	The school counselor effectively and consistently promotes the program and articulates the role of the school counselor in achieving the school's mission and student success, and contributes to the advancement of the school counseling profession.

05/18/2016

Evidence		
Land an and the second	 	

Ineffectivo	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
The school counselor does not adhere to the American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors nor the relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.	he school counselor has limited adherence to American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.	The school counselor adheres to American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.	The school counselor adheres to American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethica standards for school counselors and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies. The counselor also helps colleagues access and interpret codes and policies and understand implications.
The school counselor does not engage in self-reflection of practice, review data to set goals for improvement or participate in professional learning.	The school counselor engages in limited self-reflection of practice, reviews minimal data ineffectively to set goals for improvement and participates in professional learning to meet some goals, enhance skills and stay current on professional issues.	The school counselor engages in thoughtful self- reflection of practice, reviews data to set goals for improvement and participates in professional learning to meet goals, enhance skills and stay current on professional Issues.	The school counselor engages in thoughtful and ongoing self-reflection of practico; consistently reviews data to set and monitor goals for improvement; and participates in professional learning to meet goals, enhance skills and stay current on professional issues, educating others on learnings when appropriate.
The school counselor does not attend professional meetings nor belong to organizations at the local, state or national level.	The school counselor attends professional meetings and/or belongs to organizations at the local, state or national level.	The school counselor actively participates in both professional meetings and organizations at the local, state or national levels.	The school counselor coordinates, facilitates and/or provides leadership in professional meetings and organizations at the local, state or national level.
	The school counselor does not adhere to the American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors nor the relevant federal, state and local codes and policies. The school counselor does not engage in self-reflection of practice, review data to set goals for improvement or participate in professional learning. The school counselor does not altend professional meetings nor belong to organizations at the local,	The school counselor does not adhere to the American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors nor the relevant federal, state and local codes and policies. The school counselor does not engage in self-reflection of practice, review data to set goals for improvement or participate in professional learning. The school counselor does not attend professional meetings nor belong to organizations at the local,	The school counselor does not adhere to the American School Counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselors and and local codes and policies.he school counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselor and policies.The school counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselor and policies.The school counselor Association and other relevant ethical standards for school counselor and policies.The school counselor and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor and all relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor relevant federal, state and local codes and policies.The school counselor relevant federal, state and local to alter of practice, review data to set goals for improvement and participates in professional learning to meet some goals, enhance skills and stay current on professional learning to meet goals, enhance skills and stay current on professional learning to meetings nor belong to organizations at the local,The school counselor actively participates in both professional meetings and/or porfessional meetings and organizations at the local,The school co

	Ineffective	Developing	Skilled	Accomplished
	The school counselor does not collect data nor demonstrate a positive change in students' knowledge, behavior or skills.	The school counselor collects data but cannot demonstrate a positive change in students' knowledge, behavior or skills.	The school counselor clearly demonstrates a positive change in students' knowledge, behavior or skills within at least one student domain.	The school counselor clearly demonstrates a positive change in students' knowledge, behavior or skills within three student domains.
Evidence				

## APPENDIX I

Year:

Name:	School:		Position:
STANDARD 1:	Relationships with School Administration	STANDAR	RD 2: Equipment and Facilities Maintegance
Cooperates in subm	sitting the following to the athletic director:		
1 2 3 4	Eligibility lists	1234	Submits presenson and post-season program needs
1234	Equipment needs	1234	Maintains exact inventory of equipment/supplies
1234	Additional program information	1234	Stores and maintains equipment
Also:		1234	Secures facility after practices/games
1234	Work cooperatively with athletic director	1234	Maintains office areas
1234	Keeps athletic administrator informed of problems and potential problems	1234	Stresses proper care of equipment
1 2 3 4	Keeps athletic administrators informed of conditions of practice/playing fields	1234	Shows concern for equipment (issue and storage)
1 2 3 4	Accepts and implements athletic department decisions and policies		
1234	Is sware of deals with Title IX issues		
Comments:		Comments:	ý
Rating		Rating	

STANDARD 3: Coaching Performance

Sets appropriate example at all times

		1		program needs
1	2	3	4	Maintains exact inventory of equipment/supplies
1	2	3	4	Stores and maintains equipment
1	2	3	4	Secures facility after practices/games
1	2	3	4	Maintains office areas
1	2	3	4	Stresses proper care of equipment
1	2	3	4	Shows concern for equipment (issue and storage)
C	ATT		ente	
R	ati	ng		
S	r A	N	DAI	RD 4: Relationships with Participants
M	ain	tai	ns 18	pport with assistant coaches - Promotes positive relations:
T	2	3	4	with students
1	2	3	4	with parents
1	2	3	4	with media
1	2	3	4	with Booster Club/PTA
M	zin	lai)	ns aj	opropriate sideline conduct:
1	2	3	4	at games/practice towards players
1	2	3 .	4	at games towards officials

	123	4	Supervises athletes at all times	1234	with students
	123	4	Supervises and administration of training rooms, locker rooms, koker rooms, and practice areas.	1234	with parents
				1234	with media.
1	123	4	Maintains current knowledge of sports nules/rule changes including state and county rules	1234	with Booster Club/PTA
19	2 3	4	Maintains appropriate dress at practice and games	Maintains	appropriate sideline conduct:
)	123	4	Maintains good squad discipline	1234	at games/practice towards players
1	1 2 3	4	Displays leadership and mentor skills	1234	at games towards officials
,	23	4	Instills competitive spirit (individual and team)	1234	at games toward fans
1	23	4	Instills desire for intellectual growth/development	Also:	
1	23	4	Plans practice (objectives, activities and procedures)	1234	Promotes all sports in total athletic program
	2 3	4	Selects appropriate teaching aids/drills	1234	Actively sells program to student body to maintain
T	23	4	Works to develop assistant coaches abilities		appropriate participation
				1234	Supports players in college exposure/recruiting
				1234	Continually works with athletes without interfering with other sports
c	Comm	ents:		Comment	
R	lating			Rating	

### STANDARD 5: Personal and professional qualities

2.54 G (C + C +		
1234	Stresses that students physical and emotional well being comes before winning	4 = Exceeds Performance Expectations 3 = Meets Performance Expectations 2 = Marginal Performance (areas need improvement)
1 2 3 4	Recognizes the role of athletics in the development of lifelong values	1 = Unsatisfactory Performance
1234	Shows physical vitality and enthusiasm	
1234	Gives evidence of flexibility rather than rigidity in thoughts and behavior patterns	
1 2 3 4	Accepts/profits from constructive conservatism	
1234	is competent in the technique area of the sport	
1234	Applies basic sports psychology where applicable	
1234	Has basic understanding of athletic injury prevention, rehabilitation, and care	
1234	Uses language correctly and effectively	
1234	Seeks opportunities to assume responsibility	
1234	Shows respect and support of other coaches and athletes during their seasonal sports	
Comments:		
Rating		
Overall Cor	nments Relating to Performance	(check here if additional pages are attached)
Coaches Co	omments	(check here if additional pages are attached)
STATUS		All inventory has been properly recorded, stored, and
Co:	ntinue Coaching	location noted. A list of all athletes with missing equipment and/or uniforms with replacement value listed has been

Probationary \*

Not

**Recommended to Continue Employment** 

Yes

given to the Athletic Director.

No

\*An action plan must be developed if coach continues on a probationary status.

By signing this form, I acknowledge that I have seen and discussed this evaluation with the evaluator.

Within seven school days, if I desire, I will submit my written comments.

Coach's Signature	Date	_
Evaluator's Signature	Date	

## PARENT CONTACT CHART

Name\_

\_Building

School Year

Date	Person Contacted	Student Name	Summary of Conversation (grades, behavior, etc.)	Method of Contact (phone, email, conference, etc.)	Duration of Contac (number of minutes)
					+

#### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE LIBERTY CENTER LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION AND LIBERTY CENTER CLASSROOM TEACHER'S ASSOCIATION

This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into by and between the Liberty Center Classroom Teacher's Association (hereafter referred to as "Association") and the Liberty Center Local School District Board of Education (hereafter referred to as "Board of Education") and shall become effective upon execution by all parties.

WHEREAS, the Board of Education and Association are parties to a collective bargaining agreement the effective dates of which are August 1, 2017 through July 31, 2020 (hereafter referred to as the "Agreement");

WHEREAS, the Agreement contains Article VIII, Section C., 1, on page 44 and language therein states the following: The school day for all full time teaching employees shall be 7.5 hours (7:30 p.m. - 3:00 p.m.) inclusive of a daily duty-free 30-minute lunch period for each teacher. If all members of the team agree, the team may propose to the principal an alternative to the7:30 a.m. arrival time. Building staff meetings will average no more than two (2) per month. Adjustment of an individual teacher's day for scheduling of a class on a flextime basis may be done with agreement between teacher and principal."

WHEREAS, the parties wish to specify that due to the circumstances presented with traffic congestion at the end of the school day, and;

WHEREAS, allowing parents to exit the school parking lot at the end of the day prior to releasing students who drive and staff will alleviate traffic issues on St. Rt. 109,

NOW, THEREFORE, during the 2017-2018 contract year and continuing with subsequent school calendars until otherwise negotiated, the work day for LCCTA employees will begin at 7:35 a.m. and end at 3:05 p.m.

Liberty Center LCCTA Association

By: President

Date:

Liberty Center Local School District Board of Education

By: Superintendent

124/17 Date: